IN THE HIGH COURT OF JUSTICE IN NORTHERN IRELAND QUEEN'S BENCH DIVISION (COMMERCIAL LIST)

DATED 2021

(1) ULSTER BANK LIMITED

and

(2) NATIONAL WESTMINSTER BANK PLC

SCHEME pursuant to Part VII of, and Schedule 12 to, the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000



CONTENTS

			Page
	1	DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION	2
I	PART A	- INTRODUCTION	<u> 2021</u>
	2	BACKGROUND	20 21
	PART B	- TRANSFER	21 <u>22</u>
	3	TRANSFER OF BUSINESS	21 22
	4	CONTINUITY OF PROCEEDINGS, APPLICATIONS AND DISPUTES	24 <u>25</u>
	5	TRANSFERRED CONTRACTS	25 26
	6	CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS	27 28
	7	GUARANTEES AND INDEMNITIES	29 30
	8	TRANSFERRED SECURITY INTEREST	29 30
	9	QUALIFYING DEPOSITS	30 31
	10	CONFIDENTIALITY, DATA PROTECTION AND ACCESS TO BUSINESS RECORDS	30 31
	11	DECLARATION OF TRUST BY THE TRANSFEROR	33 <u>34</u>
	12	PROVISIONS RELATING TO CUSTOMERS	34 <u>35</u>
	13	INDEMNITIES IN FAVOUR OF THE TRANSFEROR	38 <u>39</u>
	14	APPOINTMENT OF TRANSFEROR AS SECURITY TRUSTEE	39 40
	15.	THIRD PARTY DISPOSALS	<u>4041</u>
	16	CONSEQUENCES OF THE SCHEME	<u>4142</u>
	PART C	- MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS	43 <u>44</u>
	17	EFFECTIVE DATE	43<u>44</u>
	18	MODIFICATIONS, AMENDMENTS OR ADDITIONS	43 <u>44</u>
	19	EVIDENCE OF TRANSFER	43 <u>44</u>
	20	OFFICE HOLDERS	43 <u>44</u>
	21	THIRD PARTY RIGHTS	<u>4344</u>
	22	SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS	<u>4445</u>
	23	COSTS AND EXPENSES	<u>4445</u>
I	24	FURTHER ASSURANCE	44 <u>45</u>

25	GOVERNING LAW	44 <u>45</u>
SCHEE	DULE 1 - GENERAL AMENDMENTS	45 <u>46</u>
SCHEDULE 2 - PROPERTIES		47 <u>48</u>
	PART 1 - FREEHOLD / LONG TERM LEASEHOLD PROPERTIES	47 <u>48</u>
	PART 2 - SHORT LEASEHOLD PROPERTIES	50 <u>51</u>
	PART 3 – THIRD PARTY OCCUPIER PROPERTIES	51 <u>52</u>
	PART 4 – LICENCE AGREEMENTS	51 <u>52</u>

IN THE HIGH COURT OF JUSTICE IN NORTHERN IRELAND QUEEN'S BENCH DIVISION (COMMERCIAL LIST)

IN THE MATTER OF ULSTER BANK LIMITED

-and-

IN THE MATTER OF NATIONAL WESTMINSTER BANK PLC

-and-

IN THE MATTER OF PART VII

OF THE FINANCIAL SERVICES AND MARKETS ACT 2000

SCHEME

for the transfer to National Westminster Bank Plc of the retail banking, commercial banking and related business of Ulster Bank Limited

DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

1.1 In this Scheme, unless the subject or context requires otherwise, the following expressions bear the meanings respectively set opposite them:

"Accounts"

means an account (including any group account arrangement), facility or arrangement, between the Transferor and an Account Customer in relation to a Deposit, including retail and business deposit accounts, retail and business current accounts, retail and business foreign currency accounts (including money transmission accounts) and retail and business savings accounts (and in any case whether or not recorded in the Business Records);

"Account Agreements"

means the terms and conditions and any other agreements or arrangements entered into between the Transferor and an Account Customer prior to the Effective Date (each as varied by the Transferor from time to time) and applicable to the Accounts;

"Account Customer"

means the person or persons to whom an Account has been provided and any successors in title or other person from time to time assuming the rights or obligations (or both) in connection with that Account:

"All Monies Rights"

means rights providing for a Security Interest given in relation to an agreement to secure, in addition to obligations in relation to such agreement, obligations arising under other agreements;

"Amended Existing Security Trust Agreements" means the Existing Security Trust Agreements as amended by this Scheme:

"Applicable Laws"

means any applicable law, regulation, rule or ordinance or any direction, instruction, pronouncement, requirement, decision of, or contractual obligation owned to, an applicable regulatory authority (including any applicable anti-trust law);

"Assets"

means any asset and property of every kind and description, wherever located, whether real, personal or mixed, tangible or intangible, that is owned, leased or licensed by the Transferor and comprised within the Business including all rights, benefits and powers of the Transferor under any Transferred Contract and all rights, including any right to repayment or recovery of tax relating to the Business or to the transfer thereof, claims and powers of the Transferor against any third party relating to the Business and including (for the avoidance of doubt) any such asset or property to which legal title is held by another party, provided that the Transferor has an interest in such asset or property, including beneficial ownership of such asset or property (but, in all cases, excluding any (a) Intellectual Property Rights and (b) interests or ownership rights in the Subsidiaries);

"Banknote Business"

means the business of the Transferor carried on immediately before the Effective Date in respect of the issuance and circulation by the Transferor, in its capacity as an authorised bank for the purposes of the Banking Act 2009, of banknotes in Northern

Ireland, and (without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing):

- (a) all activities carried on in connection with or for the purposes of that business;
- (b) all rights, undertakings and assets used in, or relating to, that business; and
- (c) all liabilities of whatever nature relating to that business;

"Board"

means the board of directors from time to time of the relevant company;

"Business"

means the business of the retail and premier banking division, and the business of the commercial, corporate and business banking division, of the Transferor carried on immediately before the Effective Date (whether or not recorded in the Business Records) and including, without limitation, the Customer Accounts, and (without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing):

- (a) all activities carried on in connection with or for the purposes of that business;
- (b) all undertakings and Assets used in, or relating to, that business; and
- (c) all liabilities of whatever nature relating to that business,

but excluding the Excluded Business;

"Business Day"

any day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or a public holiday in Northern Ireland) on which clearing banks in Belfast or London are open for the transaction of normal banking business;

"Business Records"

means all records containing information and records of the Business, including, without limitation, Know-how, all such books, documents and other records and other accounting, financial, marketing, sales, management and technical information, correspondence and literature, and that have been kept by the Transferor in relation to the Business, and a copy of all records which do not solely contain such information, but excluding all books, files, registers, documents, correspondence, papers and other records that are required, by any Applicable Laws or regulatory requirement to be kept by the Transferor and retained in its possession, notwithstanding this Scheme;

"Consent"

has the meaning given to the term "consent" in the GDPR;

"Consolidation Rights"

means any rights providing for any Encumbrance given in relation to an agreement not to be released or discharged until obligations have been satisfied in relation to any other agreement;

"Controller"

has the meaning given to the term "controller" in the GDPR;

"Correspondent Banking Arrangements"

means an arrangement between the Transferor and another financial institution (other than the Transferee) pursuant to which the Transferor or the financial institution, as the case may be, provides payment services, or other services in connection with the supply of goods or services, in each case to the Customers or

clients of the Transferor or financial institution as applicable;

"Court"

means the High Court of Justice in Northern Ireland;

"Cross Default Rights"

means any rights providing for, or which (if exercised) might result in, the acceleration or alteration of payment or other obligations, or the exercise of other rights, under an agreement, in each case as a result of a default under another agreement;

"Customer"

means any person to whom the Transferor provides, intends to issue, or has provided or issued, products or services to, in the course of the Business or with whom the Transferor has entered into or intends to enter, or has entered into or intends to enter into on behalf of such person (including a guarantor or security provider), any agreement, trade or transaction, including an Account Customer and a Loan Customer:

"Customer Account"

means the Accounts and the Loan Accounts, and any other account or facility between the Transferor and a Customer by which money or any unit of account is, or may be, deposited, borrowed or held by any person with or from the Business (and in any case whether or not recorded in the Business Records);

"Customer Contracts"

means all contracts, agreements, engagements, undertakings, arrangements, Mandates, orders and/or ancillary documents between, amongst others (as applicable), the Transferor and a Customer including, without limitation, the Account Agreements and the Loan Agreements and including any contracts, agreements, engagements, undertakings, arrangements, Mandates, orders and/or ancillary documents in connection with an offer:

"Data Protection Laws"

means any law, statute, declaration, decree, directive, legislative enactment, order, ordinance, regulation, rule or other binding restriction (as amended, consolidated or re-enacted from time to time) which relates to the protection of individuals with regards to the processing of Personal Data to which a party is subject, including GDPR and the Data Protection Act 2018 and, following the United Kingdom's departure from the European Union, all legislation enacted in the United Kingdom in respect of the protection of Personal Data;

"Data Subject"

has the meaning given to the term "data subject" in the GDPR;

"Deposit"

means each deposit held by the Transferor in respect of an Account Customer immediately before the Relevant Date and, except in respect of accounts that have been closed prior to the Relevant Date, comprising the aggregate of all principal sums and interest and other monies owing to that Customer by the Transferor with respect to that deposit immediately before the Relevant Date;

"Designated Person"

means a person listed on the European Union's Consolidated List of Persons, Groups and Entities subject to EU Financial Sanctions, the Consolidated List of Financial Sanctions Targets issued by Her Majesty's Treasury of the United Kingdom, the Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons list issued by the Office of Foreign Assets Controls of the US Department of Treasury or any similar list issued or maintained or made public by any Sanctions Authority, each as amended, supplemented or

substituted from time to time;

"Discount Window Facility Arrangements"

means arrangements entered into between the Transferor and the Bank of England relating to the discount window facility provided by the Bank of England under which the Transferor, amongst others, has the ability to draw loans subject to the provision of eligible collateral;

"Effective Date"

means the date and time on which this Scheme shall become effective in accordance with paragraph 17;

"Encumbrance"

means:

- (a) an agreement, deed, standard security, letter of credit, performance bond and other document or instrument pursuant to which a third-party is entitled to the benefit of any indemnity, undertaking, life assurance policy assignment, pledge, lien, mortgage, charge or security interest guaranteeing and/or securing any Liability resulting from or in connection with any Transferred Contracts (or, to the extent transferred at a Subsequent Transfer Date, an agreement in respect of a Residual Item) and any subordination document granted in connection with any Transferred Contract (or, to the extent transferred at a Subsequent Transfer Date, a Residual Item); or
- (b) any other claim, charge, mortgage, life insurance policy assignment, option, equitable right, indemnity, undertaking, power of sale, pledge, lien, hypothecation, retention of title, right of pre-emption, right of first refusal or other third party-right or security interest of any kind or an agreement arrangement or obligation to create any of the foregoing, excluding repairer's or similar liens or supplier's retentions of title;

"Entire Agreement Clause"

means a clause contained in a Transferred Customer Contract, Existing Transferee Agreement or New Transferee Agreement which provides that the agreement represents the entire agreement between the parties in relation to all or some of the accounts or services of the type that are the subject matter of the agreement or that are referred to in the agreement, or otherwise states that the relevant Transferred Customer Contract, Existing Transferee Agreement or New Transferee Agreement (as applicable) will apply to all accounts or services provided by the Transferor or the Transferee as appropriate;

"Engagement Terms"

means any terms and conditions between the Transferor and any law firm pursuant to which services are provided to the Transferor by that law firm including any related non-disclosure agreements;

"Excluded Business"

means:

- (a) the Banknote Business;
- (b) the Payment Scheme Arrangements;
- (c) the Discount Window Facility Arrangements;

- (d) the Correspondent Banking Arrangements;
- (e) the Pension Arrangements;
- (f) the Intra-group Agreements;
- (g) any contracts of employment;
- (h) subject to the provisions of paragraph 6.7, any business relating to a Sanctions Customer; and
- (i) interests or ownership rights in any Subsidiaries;

"Excluded Contract"

means:

- (a) any contract, commitments, agreements or other arrangements that have been entered into by the Transferor from time to time in relation to or in connection with the Excluded Business and which are in force immediately before the Effective Date;
- (b) any contract, commitments, agreements or other arrangements that have been entered into by the Transferor from time to time in relation to or in connection with any Intellectual Property Rights and which are in force immediately before the Effective Date;
- (c) the Engagement Terms; and
- (d) any other contract, commitments, agreements or other arrangements which the Transferor and Transferee agree in writing before the Effective Date shall be Excluded Contracts for the purposes of the Scheme;

"Existing Security Trust Agreements"

means Transferor Land Security Agreements, Transferor Land Security Interests and related Transferred Contracts under which, or in relation to which, the Transferor was appointed as security trustee or security agent and is acting as security trustee or security agent immediately before the Effective Date;

"Existing Transferee Agreement"

means any agreement between the Transferee and a customer or other counterparty of the Transferee (which may include a Customer) to the extent in force immediately before the Relevant Date excluding any agreements transferred to the Transferee pursuant to this Scheme prior to the Relevant Date;

"FCA"

means the Financial Conduct Authority (or any successor authority or authorities carrying out similar functions from time to time);

"Financial Ombudsman Service"

means the United Kingdom's Financial Ombudsman Service Limited (or any successor thereto or replacement thereof);

"FSCS Limit"

means £85,000 (or £170,000 in the case of joint account holders) or such other limit as applies to Qualifying Customers in accordance with Chapter 4 of the Depositor Protection Part of the PRA Rulebook immediately prior to the Relevant Date:

"FSMA"

means the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000;

"GDPR"

means Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 April 2016 on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data and repealing Directive 95/46/EC (General Data Protection Regulation) OJ L 119/1, 4.5.2016;

"Goodwill"

means the goodwill of the Business existing immediately prior to the Effective Date, together with the exclusive right, in so far as the Transferor can grant it, for the Transferee to represent itself as carrying on the Business in succession to the Transferor on and with effect from the Effective Date;

"Group"

means, in relation to any company, that company and any company which is a holding company or subsidiary of that company and any other subsidiary of any such holding company;

"Guarantee/Indemnity"

means:

- a guarantee, indemnity or similar assurance given by a person against loss of the recipient or beneficiary of such guarantee, indemnity or assurance or to guarantee the payment or performance of obligations due to such recipient or beneficiary; or
- (b) an obligation, direct or indirect, actual or contingent, of a person to purchase or assume any indebtedness of another person or to make an investment in or loan to another person or to purchase assets of another person where, in each case, such obligation is assumed in order to maintain or assist the ability of that other person to meet its indebtedness:

"Guarantee/Indemnity Rights"

means any rights arising under a Guarantee/Indemnity;

"Insolvency Practitioner"

has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 16.1.12;

"Intellectual Property"

means patents, trade marks (whether registered or not), registered designs, unregistered design rights, copyrights and related rights (including rights in computer software and websites), database rights, rights in Know-how, inventions, processes, specifications and techniques, business secrets and confidential information, business and brand names, internet domain names and e-mail addresses, and goodwill and the style of presentation of goods or services, in each case subsisting anywhere in the world, and includes applications for protection of any such rights;

"Intellectual Property Rights"

means all Intellectual Property used or required to be used by the Transferor in connection with the Business immediately before the Effective Date or legally or beneficially owned by the Transferor;

"Intra-group Agreements"

means any contract, transaction or arrangement (including without limitation, intercreditor agreements, and master agreements, confirmations, schedules or other agreements entered into for the purpose of hedging) to which only members of the NatWest Group are a party;

"Intra-group Intercreditor Agreement"

means the intercreditor agreement between the Transferor as security trustee, and the Transferee and NatWest Markets as

creditors with effect from the Effective Date:

"Irish Land Security Interest"

means any Security Interest relating to the Business that has been granted in favour of the Transferor and registered at the Property Registration Authority of Ireland or the Registry of Deeds in Ireland;

"Know-how"

means all know-how, trade secrets and confidential information, in any form (including paper, electronically stored data, magnetic media, film and microfilm) including financial and technical information, drawings, formulae, test results or reports, project reports and testing procedures, information relating to the working of any product, process, invention, improvement or development, instruction and training manuals, tables of operating conditions, information concerning and strategy, market forecasts, lists or particulars of Customers and suppliers, sales targets, sales statistics, prices, discounts, margins, future business strategy, tenders, price sensitive information, market research reports, information relating to research and development and business development and planning reports and any information derived from any of them;

"KYC Requirements"

means "know your client" or other similar checks (including checks and information requests for the purposes of assessing suitability or appropriateness) and anti-money laundering requirements applicable pursuant to contract or Applicable Laws;

"Land Security Agreement"

means any agreement, deed, standard security or other document or instrument constituting or creating or regulating (or agreeing to constitute or create or regulate) a Land Security Interest;

"Land Security Interest"

means any Security Interest relating to the Business that has been granted in favour of the Transferor and registered at the Northern Irish Land Registry or the Registry of Deeds in Northern Ireland:

"Liability"

means any debt, duty, obligation or liability (whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, liquidated or unliquidated, or due or to become due) including all liability to Taxation, and including all costs and expenses relating thereto and any obligation in respect of any judgement, order or award made in any Proceedings;

"Loan"

means any loan, facility (including a letter of credit, guarantee and/or performance bond facility), invoice discounting arrangement, factoring arrangement, any other kind of receivables finance or asset finance arrangement, any credit card or charge card product or service or any retail, business or other loan (including an overdraft), in each case whether secured or unsecured:

"Loan Accounts"

means an account, facility or arrangement between the Transferor and a Loan Customer in relation to a Transferred Loan (and in any case whether or not recorded in the Business Records);

"Loan Agreements"

means an agreement between the Transferor, amongst others (as applicable), and a Loan Customer in respect of a Transferred Loan but excluding any Excluded Contract;

"Loan Customer"

means the person or persons to whom a Transferred Loan has been made and any successors in title or other person from time to time assuming the rights or obligations (or both) in connection with that Transferred Loan;

"Mandate"

means an instruction, direction, mandate (including any direct debit mandate and any general mandate to manage a Customer Account), standing order, indemnity, power of attorney, agent appointment, authority, declaration or consent whether provided in writing, electronically or by any other method;

"Marketing Preference"

means a Consent given by a Data Subject to the Transferor from time to time for use of his or her Personal Data to market directly to that Data Subject the products and services of the Transferor by any means, or an indication (by act or omission as appropriate) by the Data Subject that such Consent is withheld;

"NatWest Group"

means NWG and any other members of its Group;

"NatWest Holdings"

means NatWest Holdings Limited, a private limited company incorporated in England and Wales with registered number 10142224 and having its registered office at 250 Bishopsgate, London, EC2M 4AA;

"NatWest Markets"

means NatWest Markets Plc, a public limited company incorporated in Scotland with registered number SC090312 and having its registered office at 36 St Andrew Square, Edinburgh, EH2 2YB:

"New Transferee Agreement"

means any contracts, commitments, agreements and other arrangements entered into between, amongst others (as applicable), the Transferee and any of its customers (including a Customer, guarantor or security provider) or on behalf of such person on or after the Relevant Date:

"NWG"

means NatWest Group plc, a public limited company incorporated in Scotland with registered number SC045551 and having its registered office at 36 St Andrew Square, Edinburgh, United Kingdom, EH2 2YB;

"Ongoing Capital Requirement"

means the amount of capital required to be held by the Transferor as determined in accordance with the applicable regulatory capital requirements imposed by the EU Capital Requirements Directive IV (2013/36/EU, the EU Capital Requirements Regulation (EU/575/2013) (as amended by Regulation (EU/2019/876)), applicable technical standards, recommendations and guidance issued by the European Banking Authority and the PRA Rulebook, in each case subject to any discretion, waiver, modification or permission exercised by the PRA in relation to those requirements, together with such additional amounts (if any) as the Transferor's Board shall determine;

"Order"

means an order made by the Court pursuant to section 111 of FSMA sanctioning this Scheme and any order (including any subsequent order) in relation to this Scheme made by the Court pursuant to section 112 of FSMA;

"Payment Scheme Arrangements"

means:

- (a) Bacs;
- (b) Faster Payments Service;

- (c) Clearing House Automated Payment System (CHAPS);
- (d) Image Clearing System;
- (e) Visa;
- (f) Mastercard;
- (g) LINK;
- (h) PAYM;
- (i) Google Pay;
- (j) Apple Pay;
- (k) the SEPA Credit Transfers;
- (I) the SEPA Direct Debit Scheme;
- (m) the SEPA B2B Scheme; and
- (n) any other arrangements in connection with the Transferor's membership of or (as the context requires) direct or indirect participation in or access to payment schemes and any card schemes or other schemes for money transmission or for payment transactions including those listed at (a) to (m) above, or the use by the Transferor of another party's Intellectual Property relating to payment schemes, card schemes, schemes for money transmission or payment transactions including those listed at (a) to (m) above, and (without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing):
 - all activities carried on in connection with or for the purposes relating thereto;
 - (ii) all rights and undertakings used in or relating thereto; and
 - (iii) all liabilities of whatever nature relating thereto;

"Pension Arrangements"

means any arrangements in connection with the Ulster Bank Pension Scheme (UBPS) and the Pension Subsidiary;

"Pension Subsidiary"

means Ulster Bank Pension Trustees Limited, a private limited company incorporated in Northern Ireland with registered number NI026342 and having its registered office at Group Secretariat Department, Ulster Bank Head Office, 11/16 Donegall Square East, Belfast, BT1 5UB;

"Personal Data"

has the meaning given to the term "personal data" in the GDPR;

"PRA"

means the Prudential Regulation Authority (or any successor authority or authorities carrying out similar functions in relation to banking business from time to time);

"PRA Rulebook"

means the rules and directions contained in the PRA Rulebook, as supplemented by any relevant PRA supervisory statements;

"Proceedings"

means any action or other legal or administrative proceeding or step (whether direct or indirect, by way of a claim, demand, legal proceeding, execution of judgment, arbitration, complaint or otherwise howsoever) including arbitration, mediation, adjudication, any other dispute resolution procedure (whether or not it involves submission to any court), any judicial, quasi-judicial, administrative or regulatory review or process or any complaint or claim to any court, authority or ombudsman, including the Financial Ombudsman Service, or other proceedings for the resolution of a dispute or claim, in each case whether current, future, pending, threatened or otherwise (including those not yet in contemplation);

"processing"

solely in the context of processing Personal Data, has the meaning given to the term "processing" in the GDPR and "process" and "processed" shall be construed accordingly;

"Properties"

means those real property interests of the Transferor as set out in Schedule 2;

"Qualifying Customer"

means a person who is:

- (a) a Customer of the Transferor; or
- (b) a Customer of the Transferor and a customer of the Transferee:

"Qualifying Deposit"

means a deposit which is an "eligible deposit" for the purposes of the Depositor Protection Part of the PRA Rulebook;

"Registration Date"

means:

- (a) any date on which a transfer of the legal title to the Third Party Disposal Assets which are Land Security Interests from the Transferor to the Transferee is registered at the Northern Irish Land Registry or the Registry of Deeds in Northern Ireland as applicable; and
- (b) any date on which a transfer of the legal title to the Third Party Disposal Assets which are Irish Land Security Interests from the Transferor to the Transferee is registered at the Property Registration Authority of Ireland and/or the Registry of Deeds in Ireland (as applicable); and
- any date on which a transfer of the legal title to any other
 Third Party Disposal Assets is registered at any land
 registry or other register to the extent not set out in
 paragraphs (a) or (b) above;

"Relevant Date"

means:

- (a) in respect of the Transferred Assets and Transferred Liabilities, the Effective Date; and
- (b) in respect of a Residual Item, the Subsequent Transfer Date;

"Relevant Guarantor"

means the person that has given the relevant Transferred Guarantee/Indemnity to or for the benefit of the Transferor;

"Relevant Security Agreement"

means any agreement, deed, standard security, letter of credit, performance bond or other document or instrument constituting or creating or regulating (or agreeing to constitute or create or regulate) a Relevant Security Interest and includes any account control agreement, custody agreement, intercreditor agreement in respect of a Relevant Security Interest, trust deed, deed of charge, deed of substitution, subordination agreement, documentation evidencing the deposit of title deeds or other ancillary agreement;

"Relevant Security Interest"

means any Security Interest relating to the Business that is not a Transferor Land Security Interest;

"Requesting Party"

means a person who is obliged to comply with KYC Requirements in respect of the transfer of the Business;

"Residual Assets"

means:

- (a) any Asset whether or not governed by the laws of the United Kingdom and whether or not situated in Northern Ireland which would be a Transferred Asset but:
 - (i) which the Court does not have jurisdiction to transfer;
 - (ii) which, despite having such jurisdiction, the Court determines not to transfer;
 - (iii) additional steps are required to be undertaken by the Transferor and/or Transferee once the Order is granted in order to complete the transfer: or
 - (iv) in respect of which the Transferor and the Transferee have agreed that the transfer to the Transferee should be delayed until after the Effective Date; or
- (b) any interest of the Transferor in any Asset or any agreement relating to any Asset which the Transferor and the Transferee agree prior to the Effective Date is more conveniently to be transferred pursuant to this Scheme in conjunction with any Asset referred to in paragraph (a) (i), (ii), or (iii) of this definition or in conjunction with a Residual Liability:
- (c) the Retained Capital Amount in respect of the Transferor (including any proceeds of sale or income or other accrual or return whatsoever, whether or not in any case in the form of cash, from time to time earned on or received after the Effective Date in respect of that Retained Capital Amount);
- (d) any proceeds of sale or income or other accrual or return whatsoever, whether or not in any case in the form of cash from time to time earned or received after the Effective Date in respect of any such Asset referred to in paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) of this definition,

and, for the avoidance of doubt, all references to "Residual Assets" in this Scheme shall also include a reference to such rights,

benefits, property or assets as are deemed to be "Residual Items" in accordance with paragraphs 11.3 and 11.4;

"Residual Item"

means a Residual Asset or Residual Liability;

"Residual Liabilities"

means any Liability of the Transferor whether or not governed by the laws of the United Kingdom and whether or not situated in Northern Ireland:

- (a) that is attributable to or connected with a Residual Asset and exists or arises at any time before the Subsequent Transfer Date applicable to that Residual Asset;
- (b) which the Court does not have jurisdiction to transfer;
- (c) which, despite having such jurisdiction, the Court determines not to so transfer;
- in respect of which the Transferor and the Transferee have agreed that the transfer to the Transferee should be delayed until after the Effective Date;
- (e) any other Liability comprised in the Business which the Transferor and the Transferee agree prior to the Effective Date is more conveniently to be transferred pursuant to this Scheme in conjunction with any Liability referred to in paragraphs (b) to (d) of this definition or in conjunction with a Residual Asset.

and, for the avoidance of doubt, all references to "Residual Liabilities" in this Scheme shall also include a reference to such Liabilities as are deemed to be "Residual Items" in accordance with paragraphs 11.3 and 11.4;

"Retained Capital Amount"

means, in respect of the Transferor, such Assets as the Transferor's Board shall determine are required to be retained in connection with the Transferor being able to continue to meet its Ongoing Capital Requirement immediately after the Effective Date for so long as it maintains its PRA authorisation;

"Sanctions Authority"

means any relevant government, agency or legislature in the United Kingdom, the European Union, the United States of America or any other relevant jurisdiction to the Transferor and/or the Transferee that implements, administers or enforces any sanctions regime, including the United Nations Security Council, and Her Majesty's Treasury in the United Kingdom;

"Sanctions Customer"

means any Customer or other person that is (i) designated by a Sanctions Authority as a Designated Person or (ii) owned or controlled by, or acting on behalf of, a person or entity that is designated by a Sanctions Authority as a Designated Person:

"Security Interest"

means a debenture, claim, mortgage, charge, assignment, pledge, lien, option, equitable right, indemnity, undertaking, power of sale, hypothecation, retention of title, right of pre-emption, right of first refusal, all monies guarantee or other security interest (excluding repairer and similar liens and supplier retentions of title) having the effect of securing any Liability of any person;

"Security Trust

means the holding by the Security Trustee of the legal title to the

Arrangement"

Transferor Land Security Interests for the benefit of:

- (a) the Transferee pursuant to the Security Trust Agreement;
- (b) the Transferee and NatWest Markets pursuant to the Intra-group Intercreditor Agreement; and
- (c) relevant persons pursuant to the Amended Existing Security Trust Agreements;

"Security Trust Agreement"

means the security trust agreement to be entered into between the Transferor and the Transferoe relating to the Transferor Land Security Interests with effect from the Effective Date;

"Security Trustee"

means the Transferor appointed pursuant to this Scheme and acting as security trustee or security agent as applicable in respect of the applicable Transferor Land Security Interests pursuant to the Security Trust Arrangements;

"SEPA"

means the Single Euro Payments Area, the payment-integration initiative of the European Union for the simplification of bank transfers in Euros:

"SEPA B2B Scheme"

means the direct debit scheme which enables business customers to make payments by direct debt between accounts held with payment service providers located within SEPA;

"SEPA Credit Transfers"

means the credit transfer scheme which enables payment service providers to transfer Euro-denominated funds between countries within SEPA:

"SEPA Direct Debit Scheme"

means the direct debit scheme which enables the setting up of direct debits between accounts held with payment service providers located within SEPA;

"Special Categories Data"

means the categories of Personal Data that are listed in Article 9(1) of the GDPR:

"Subject Access Request"

means a subject access request for access to Personal Data made by a Customer pursuant to the Data Protection Laws;

"Subsequent Transfer Date"

means in relation to any Residual Asset or Residual Liability, the time and date after the Effective Date on which such Residual Asset or Residual Liability is to be transferred to the Transferee, namely:

- (a) in respect of any Residual Asset falling within paragraph (a)(i), (ii) or (iii) of the definition thereof, and of any Residual Liability which is attributable to or connected with that Residual Asset or which falls within paragraphs (b) or (c) of the definition of Residual Liability, the date on which the requisite steps, or requisite consent or waiver, to enable the same to be transferred from the Transferor to the Transferee upon the terms of this Scheme is:
 - (i) obtained or completed;
 - (ii) no longer required or waived; or

- (iii) dispensed with by Order of the Court;
- (b) in respect of any Residual Asset falling within paragraphs (a)(iv) or (b) of the definition thereof and of any Residual Liability which is attributable to or connected with that Residual Asset or which falls within paragraphs (d) or (e) of the definition of Residual Liability, the Subsequent Transfer Date applicable to the asset in conjunction with which it was agreed to be a Residual Asset or the date on which the Transferor and the Transferee agree the transfer should take effect (as appropriate);
- (c) in respect of any Residual Asset falling within paragraph (c) of the definition thereof, the date on which the Transferor's Board determines that such Residual Asset is no longer required to ensure that the Transferor is able to continue to meet its Ongoing Capital Requirement; and
- in respect of any Residual Asset falling within paragraph
 (d) of the definition thereof, the date on which the Transferor and the Transferee agree the transfer should take effect,

and, for the avoidance of doubt, the Subsequent Transfer Date applicable in respect of an Asset or Liability that is deemed to be a Residual Item in accordance with paragraphs 11.3 and 11.4 shall be the Subsequent Transfer Date applicable to the Residual Item to which it relates:

"Subsidiaries"

means the Pension Subsidiary and any other entity in which an ownership interest is held by the Transferor:

"Supervisory Authority"

has the meaning given to the term "supervisory authority" in the GDPR:

"Tax" or "Taxation"

means all forms of tax, duty, rate, levy, charge or other imposition or withholding whenever and by whatever authority imposed and whether of the United Kingdom or elsewhere, including (without limitation) income tax (including income tax or amounts equivalent to or in respect of income tax required to be deducted or withheld from or accounted for in respect of any payment), corporation tax, capital gains tax, value added tax, stamp duty, stamp duty reserve tax, stamp duty land tax, national insurance and other similar contributions, and any other taxes, duties, rates, levies, charges, imposts or withholdings corresponding to, similar to, replaced by or replacing any of them, together with any interest, penalty, surcharge or fine in connection with such taxation or in connection with the failure to file any return for the purposes of any taxation;

"Tax Liabilities"

means all liabilities to or in respect of Taxation which are attributable to the Business;

"Tax Relief"

means any reliefs, allowances or credits in respect of any Taxation, any deductions in computing income, profits or gains for the purposes of any Taxation or any right to repayment of Taxation;

"this Scheme"

this Scheme in its original form or with or subject to any modification, addition or condition which may be approved or imposed in accordance with paragraph 18;

"Third Party Contracts"

means any contract (other than a Customer Contract) entered into by the Transferor in relation to the Business, including negotiable instruments, cheques, warrants, drafts, letters of credit, orders for payment of money, performance bonds and guarantees, in each case issued by the Transferor;

"Third Party Disposal Agreements"

means the related mortgage sale deeds, declarations of trust and sub-participation agreements providing for the sale and transfer of interests in certain of the assets of the Transferor:

"Third Party Disposal Assets"

means the assets of the Transferor subject to the Third Party Disposal Agreements;

"Third Party Disposal Assets Agreements" means the agreements setting out the terms of the Third Party Disposal Assets;

"Third Party Purchasers"

means the persons which acquired interests from the Transferor in the Third Party Disposal Assets;

"Transferee"

means National Westminster Bank Plc, a private limited company incorporated in England and Wales with registered number 00929027 and having its registered office at 250 Bishopsgate, London, EC2M 4AA;

"Transferee Nominee"

means a nominee or agent of or trustee for the Transferee;

"Transfer Notice Date"

means the date:

- (a) if paragraph 3.9 applies, agreed by the Transferor and the Transferee; or
- (b) if paragraph 3.10 applies, the date specified in the notice provided to the relevant Customer pursuant to paragraph 3.10, which shall not, unless the Customer otherwise agrees, be earlier than 28 days after the date of such written notice;

"Transferee Payment"

has the meaning given to that term in paragraph 13.4;

"Transferor"

means Ulster Bank Limited, a private limited company incorporated in Northern Ireland with registered number R0000733 and having its registered office at 11-16 Donegall Square East, Belfast, BT1 5UB;

"Transferor Land Security Agreement"

means a Land Security Agreement not subject to a Third Party Disposal Agreement;

"Transferor Land Security Interest"

means the Land Security Interests which are not subject to a Third Party Disposal Agreement;

"Transferor Nominee"

means a nominee or agent of or trustee for the Transferor;

"Transferred Assets"

means, in relation to the Transferor, all Assets of the Transferor whatsoever and wherever situated, comprised in or attributable to

the Business immediately before the Effective Date including (without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing):

- (a) the rights and benefits (subject to the burden) of each Transferred Contract:
- (b) on and subject to the terms of paragraph 8, the Transferred Security Interests and all rights and benefits (subject to the burden) of each Transferred Security Agreement;
- (c) on and subject to the terms of paragraph 7, all rights and benefits (subject to the burden) of each Transferred Guarantee/Indemnity;
- (d) the rights and benefits (subject to the burden) in relation to offers;
- (e) the rights, interests, benefits and powers of the Transferor arising under, or by virtue of, the Transferred Contracts and Customer Accounts:
- (f) all rights and claims (whether present or future, actual or contingent) against any third party in relation to the Business or arising as a result of the Transferor having carried on any part of the Business;
- (g) the Goodwill;
- (h) the Properties; and
- such other assets that the Transferor and the Transferee agree in writing are to be Transferred Assets for the purposes of this Scheme.

but excluding any Asset relating to the Excluded Business, the Excluded Contracts or the Residual Assets;

"Transferred Contracts"

means all contracts, commitments, agreements and other arrangements that have been entered into by and/or confer rights upon the Transferor from time to time in relation to or in connection with the Business and which are in force immediately before the Relevant Date (including, without limitation, all Third Party Contracts, all Transferred Supply Chain Service Arrangements and all Customer Contracts) but excluding any Excluded Contract or Transferor Land Security Agreement;

"Transferred Customer Contract"

means a Transferred Contract that is a Customer Contract and including any Transferred Guarantee/Indemnity or Transferred Security Agreement;

"Transferred Guarantee/Indemnity"

means a Guarantee/Indemnity given in favour of the Transferor in relation to Liabilities of a Customer or other third party pursuant to or in respect of a Transferred Contract;

"Transferred Liabilities"

means, in relation to the Transferor, all Liabilities of the Transferor whatsoever and wherever situated, comprised in or attributable to the Business of the Transferor immediately before the Effective Date including (without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing) all liabilities arising under, or in relation to the Transferred

Contracts and Customer Accounts and including Tax Liabilities, but excluding any liability relating to the Excluded Business, the Excluded Contracts or the Residual Liabilities;

"Transferred Loan"

means any Loan provided by the Transferor and relating to the Business:

"Transferred Security Agreement"

means any Relevant Security Agreement;

"Transferred Security Interest"

means:

- in respect of a Transferor Land Security Interest, the beneficial title (but not the legal title) to such Transferor Land Security Interest granted in favour of the Transferor;
- (b) in respect of any Relevant Security Interest, such Relevant Security Interest granted in favour of the Transferor securing a Liability of any person in connection with any Customer Contract that is a Relevant Security Agreement (or, to the extent transferred at a Subsequent Transfer Date, a Residual Item);

and, in each case, including any Security Interest that is vested in a nominee, agent, attorney, trustee or other third party for the benefit of the Transferor:

"Transferred Supply Chain Service Arrangements"

means any arrangements between the Transferor with at least one other party which is not a member of the NatWest Group pursuant to which goods, services and/or software are provided to the Transferor (other than the Engagement Terms);

"United Kingdom" or "UK"

means the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland;

"VAT"

means, within the European Union, such Tax as may be levied in accordance with (but subject to derogations from) Directive 2006/112/EC and, outside the European Union, any Taxation levied by reference to added value or sales or similar Tax; and

"Wrong Pockets Item"

has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 3.8.

1.2 In this Scheme:

- 1.2.1 "account" (as the context may require) means any contract or facility by virtue of which money, securities, investments or any unit of account is, or may be, deposited by any person;
- 1.2.2 "agreements" includes any contract, agreement, terms and conditions or legally binding arrangement;
- 1.2.3 "asset" includes property, asset, right or power of every description (whether present or future, actual or contingent), including, without limitation: money; goods; things in action; legal and/or beneficial title in all real and heritable property; moveable and personal property situated in the United Kingdom or elsewhere; property held on trust or in a fiduciary or agency capacity; securities or other types of investment; rights; benefits and powers of every description; any interest (whether legal, beneficial or otherwise) as proprietor, landlord, tenant, mortgagee, chargee, assignee or heritable creditor; the benefit (subject to the burden) of any contracts and any interest in any of the foregoing;

- 1.2.4 "document" means any thing in which information of any description is recorded (whether in physical, electronic or any other form);
- 1.2.5 "existing" means existing, outstanding or in force immediately before the Effective Date;
- 1.2.6 "**liabilities**" includes (without limitation) duties and obligations of every description (whether present or future, actual or contingent) including all liability to Taxation;
- 1.2.7 "property" includes (without limitation) property, assets, rights (including, without limitation, contingent rights as to the repayment of Tax) and powers of every description (whether present or future, actual or contingent) and includes property held on trust and securities, benefits, powers of any description and any interest whatsoever in any of the foregoing;
- 1.2.8 "transfer" includes (as the context may require) "assign", "assignation" or "assignment", "novate" or "novation, "dispose" or "disposal" or "convey" or "conveyance";
- 1.2.9 "offer" includes an application, offer or invitation to treat;
- 1.2.10 any reference to the singular shall include a reference to the plural and vice versa and any reference to the masculine shall include a reference to the feminine and neuter and vice versa;
- 1.2.11 any reference to any rules or regulations issued by the PRA or the FCA shall be deemed to include a reference to such rules or regulations as amended or replaced from time to time and subject to any applicable modification or waiver;
- 1.2.12 any reference to an enactment, a statutory provision or any subordinate legislation shall be deemed to include a reference to that enactment, statutory provision or subordinate legislation as amended, replaced or re-enacted from time to time and to any instrument or order made from time to time under such enactment, statutory provision or subordinate legislation (including, in relation to any European legislation, any delegated or implementing acts and in relation the such European legislation, any legislation executed in the United Kingdom in respect of the same subject matter);
- 1.2.13 expressions used in this Scheme which have meanings under FSMA shall bear those meanings;
- 1.2.14 the expressions "holding company", "subsidiary" and "wholly-owned subsidiary" shall have the same meanings as in the Companies Act 2006;
- 1.2.15 any references to paragraphs, Parts or Schedules are, unless otherwise specified, to paragraphs or Parts of or Schedules to this Scheme;
- 1.2.16 headings are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the construction of this Scheme;
- 1.2.17 any reference to a person shall include a reference to a body corporate, a partnership, an unincorporated association or to a person's executors or administrators and, for the avoidance of doubt, shall include a trustee;
- 1.2.18 any reference to an interest being granted in favour of a person shall include any interest granted to that person's predecessor in title in relation to that interest;
- 1.2.19 if a period of time is specified from a given day or date or from the day or date of an actual event, it shall be calculated exclusive of that day or date;
- 1.2.20 any reference to writing shall include any modes of reproducing words in a legible and non-transitory form;

- 1.2.21 any reference to an amount shall, unless otherwise stated, be exclusive of any VAT or other Tax;
- 1.2.22 the expression "**variation**" shall include any variation, supplement, deletion, replacement or termination, however effected;
- 1.2.23 any reference to "pounds" or "£" shall be to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom;
- 1.2.24 any reference to "includes" or "including" shall mean "includes without limitation" or "including without limitation"; and
- 1.2.25 except where the context otherwise requires, any reference to this Scheme includes a reference to the Schedules, each of which forms part of this Scheme for all purposes.

PART A - INTRODUCTION

2. BACKGROUND

- 2.1 NWG is the parent company of the NatWest Group and NatWest Holdings is a direct subsidiary of NWG.
- 2.2 The Transferee is a direct subsidiary of NatWest Holdings and the Transferor is a direct subsidiary of the Transferee.
- 2.3 The Transferor is a private limited company incorporated in Northern Ireland with registered number R0000733. The registered office of the Transferor is situated at 11-16 Donegall Square East, Belfast, BT1 5UB. The Transferor is an authorised person for the purpose of FSMA and has permission to carry on a number of regulated activities including accepting deposits. The Transferor is a direct, wholly owned, subsidiary of the Transferee. The Transferor provides services through its retail banking division and its commercial business banking division predominantly servicing the Northern Irish domestic market.
- 2.4 The Transferee is a private limited company incorporated in England and Wales with registered number 00929027. The registered office of the Transferee is situated at 250 Bishopsgate, London, EC2M 4AA. The Transferee is an authorised person for the purpose of FSMA and has permission to carry on a number of regulated activities including accepting deposits. The Transferee provides financial services through its retail and commercial banking business and has a large network of branches in England, Wales and Scotland.

2.5 It is proposed that:

- 2.5.1 the Business shall, in accordance with this Scheme, be transferred by the Transferor to the Transferee;
- 2.5.2 an Order be made for the sanction of this Scheme under section 111(1) of FSMA; and
- 2.5.3 by the Order under which this Scheme is sanctioned, provision be made, for, inter alia, the transfer of the Business to the Transferee, pursuant to section 112 of FSMA.

PART B-TRANSFER

3. TRANSFER OF BUSINESS

General transfer provisions

- 3.1 On and from the Relevant Date, the Business shall be transferred to and be vested in the Transferee in accordance with, and subject to the terms of, this Scheme, so that:
 - 3.1.1 subject to paragraph 11, on and from the Effective Date, each Transferred Asset and all of the rights, benefits, powers, obligations and interests of the Transferor in each Transferred Asset shall, by the Order and without any further act or instrument, be transferred to and be vested in the Transferee and shall cease to be assets of the Transferor and the Transferee shall succeed to each Transferred Asset as if in all respects it were the same person in law as the Transferor, subject to all Encumbrances (if any) affecting such Transferred Asset;
 - 3.1.2 subject to paragraph 11, on and from each Subsequent Transfer Date, each Residual Asset to which such Subsequent Transfer Date applies and all of the rights, benefits, powers, obligations and interests of the Transferor in each Residual Asset shall, by the Order and without any further act or instrument, be transferred to and be vested in the Transferee and shall cease to be assets of the Transferor and the Transferee shall succeed to each Residual Asset as if in all respects it were the same person in law as the Transferor, subject to all Encumbrances (if any) affecting such Residual Asset;
 - 3.1.3 on and from the Effective Date, each Transferred Liability shall, by the Order and without any further act or instrument, be transferred to and become a liability of the Transferee and the Transferee shall succeed to the Transferred Liability as if in all respects it were the same person in law as the Transferor and such Transferred Liability shall cease to be a liability of the Transferor subject to all Encumbrances (if any) affecting such Transferred Liability; and
 - 3.1.4 on and from each Subsequent Transfer Date, each Residual Liability to which such Subsequent Transfer Date applies shall, by the Order and without any further act or instrument, be transferred to and become a liability of the Transferee and the Transferee shall succeed to such Residual Liability as if in all respects it were the same person in law as the Transferor and such Residual Liability shall cease to be a liability of the Transferor subject to all Encumbrances (if any) affecting such Residual Liability.
- 3.2 Without limitation to the generality of the provisions of paragraph 3.1 or any other provision of this Scheme:
 - 3.2.1 any existing indemnity, power of attorney, authority (including agent or trustee appointment), declaration or consent given to or by the Transferor, or any of the Transferor's directors, company secretary or officers in their capacity as such relating to any part of the Business shall have effect on and from the Relevant Date as if given to or, as the case may be, by the Transferee;
 - 3.2.2 any contract or asset relating to the Business (including (i) any legal or beneficial title arising pursuant to any trust and (ii) any rights or liabilities pursuant to any custody arrangements) transferred to and vested in the Transferee by virtue of the Order and which was held by the Transferor (whether alone or jointly with others) as a trustee, custodian, agent or in a similar fiduciary capacity shall, on and from the Relevant Date, be held by the Transferee (alone or jointly, as the case may be and in the capacity of a trustee, custodian, agent or in a similar fiduciary capacity, as the case may be) subject to the rights, powers and duties previously applicable to the relevant trust, custodian or other fiduciary arrangement in question;

- 3.2.3 save in respect of the legal title to any Transferor Land Security Interest, any security (including all beneficial title to any Transferor Land Security Interest) in respect of the Business held immediately before the Relevant Date by the Transferor in the course of carrying on the Business, (or by a nominee or agent of or trustee for the Transferor in the course of the Transferor carrying on the Business), as security for the payment or discharge of any liability, on and from that day and subject to and to the extent provided for by the terms of this Scheme, be held by the Transferee, or, as the case may require, by the Transferee Nominee, and be available to the Transferee (whether for its own benefit or, as the case may be, for the benefit of any other person) as security for the payment or discharge of that liability (and if not physically delivered to the Transferee shall be deemed to be so delivered on that day); and
- 3.2.4 the Transferee shall be entitled to rely on and enforce any consent, waiver, representation, statement or estoppel given by or made to the Transferor by a person in relation to the Business prior to the Relevant Date as though such consent, waiver, representation, statement or estoppel had been given or made to the Transferee and to the same extent that the Transferor would have been able to rely on or enforce the same.
- 3.3 The Transferee shall accept without investigation or requisition such title as the Transferor shall have at the Effective Date to the Transferred Assets and, at any Subsequent Transfer Date, to the Residual Asset then transferred.
- 3.4 The Transferor and the Transferee shall take all such steps, and execute all such documents, as may be necessary or desirable:
 - 3.4.1 to effect or perfect the transfer to and vesting in the Transferee of any Transferred Asset or Residual Asset pursuant to this Scheme;
 - 3.4.2 to effect or perfect the transfer to and assumption by the Transferee of any Transferred Liability or Residual Liability pursuant to this Scheme; and
 - 3.4.3 to correct any errors in the identity or amount of the assets or liabilities so transferred.
- 3.5 Unless and to the extent otherwise provided in the Order:
 - 3.5.1 the transfer of any rights, benefits, liabilities and obligations under or in connection with any Transferred Asset, Residual Asset, Transferred Liability or Residual Liability pursuant to this Scheme shall take effect and shall be valid and binding on all parties having any interest in the same notwithstanding any requirement to obtain the consent of, give notice to, or consult with any person in relation to the same or any restriction or other condition on transferring, assigning or otherwise dealing with the same and such transfer shall take effect on the basis that it does not give rise to a requirement to obtain such consent, give notice or consult and that it does not contravene any such restriction or other condition and does not give rise to any right to terminate, modify, acquire or claim an interest or right, or to treat an interest or right as terminated or modified; and
 - 3.5.2 any entitlement which, but for section 112A of FSMA, would or might arise to terminate, modify, acquire or claim an interest or right to treat an interest or right as terminated or modified as a result of anything done or pursuant to the Scheme will not be enforceable.
- 3.6 Unless otherwise agreed by the Transferor and Transferee, any Transferred Asset or Transferred Liability in respect of which an Encumbrance has been granted by, or in favour of, the Transferor in the course of carrying on the relevant part of the Business, shall only transfer to the Transferee if the relevant Encumbrance transfers at the same time, and any Encumbrance shall only transfer to the Transferee if the Transferred Asset or Transferred Liability (as applicable) transfers at the same time.

General

- 3.7 For the avoidance of doubt, on and from the Relevant Date:
 - 3.7.1 the Transferee shall have the same rights, defences, powers and remedies for ascertaining, perfecting, enforcing and resisting a Transferred Asset, a Transferred Liability, or (to the extent transferred at a Subsequent Transfer Date) a Residual Item, as if it had at all times been an asset or liability of the Transferee; and
 - 3.7.2 the Transferee shall be entitled to rely on and enforce any consent, waiver, representation, warranty, statement, notice or estoppel given, made or otherwise available to the Transferor by, or against, a person in relation to a Transferred Asset, a Transferred Liability, a Transferred Contract (subject to the provisions of paragraph 12) or (to the extent transferred at a Subsequent Transfer Date) a Residual Item, prior to the Relevant Date, as if such consent, waiver, representation, warranty, statement, notice or estoppel had been given, made or been available to the Transferee and to the same extent that the Transferor would have been able to rely on and enforce the same.

Wrong Pockets

- 3.8 If at any time after the Relevant Date and, in any case, prior to 3 August 2021 the legal title to any asset, property, contract or liability that:
 - 3.8.1 should have formed part of the Business is found not to have been transferred to the Transferee; or
 - 3.8.2 should have formed part of the Excluded Business is found to have been transferred to the Transferee,
 - (a "Wrong Pockets Item"), if the Transferor and the Transferee agree, this paragraph 3.8 shall apply to that Wrong Pockets Item, and (subject to paragraphs 3.9 and 3.10 and the other terms of this Scheme):
 - 3.8.3 such Wrong Pockets Item shall:
 - (a) in the case of a Wrong Pockets Item falling within paragraph 3.8.1, transfer from the Transferor to the Transferee; or
 - (b) in the case of a Wrong Pockets Item falling within paragraph 3.8.2, transfer from the Transferee to the Transferor,

in each case on the relevant Transfer Notice Date;

- 3.8.4 any asset or liability or agreement or document which would have formed part of:
 - the Business, had the Wrong Pockets Item formed part of the Business, shall transfer from the Transferor to the Transferee; or
 - (b) the Excluded Business, had the Wrong Pockets Item formed part of the Excluded Business, shall transfer from the Transferee to the Transferor,

in each case on the relevant Transfer Notice Date;

- 3.8.5 any Security Interest or Guarantee/Indemnity which:
 - (a) would have been designated as a Transferred Security Interest or Transferred Guarantee/Indemnity had the Wrong Pockets Item formed part of the Business, but which was not designated as such, shall be deemed to be a Transferred

Security Interest or a Transferred Guarantee/Indemnity (as the context requires) for the purposes of the Scheme; or

(b) was designated as a Transferred Security Interest or Transferred Guarantee/Indemnity as a result of it forming part of the Business, but which should not have been designated as such, shall cease to be a Transferred Security Interest or Transferred Guarantee/Indemnity (as the context requires) for the purposes of the Scheme,

except that (as the context requires) any reference to the "Relevant Date" shall be deemed to be a reference to the relevant Transfer Notice Date;

- 3.8.6 such Wrong Pockets Item shall otherwise be treated as though it had been originally designated as part of the Business (in the case of a Wrong Pockets Item falling within paragraph 3.8.1) or the Excluded Business (in the case of a Wrong Pockets Item falling within paragraph 3.8.2) save that the transfer of any interest in such Wrong Pockets Item shall take place on the relevant Transfer Notice Date, and all provisions of this Scheme applying to the transfer of the Business or any part thereof from the Transferor to the Transferee shall apply, *mutatis mutandis*, to the Wrong Pockets Item; and
- 3.8.7 the Transferor and the Transferee shall take all such steps as are reasonably necessary to give effect to the provisions of this paragraph 3.8, except, in each case, to the extent otherwise agreed between the Transferor and the Transferee.
- 3.9 In the case of a Wrong Pockets Item:
 - 3.9.1 falling within paragraph 3.8.1 which relates to a Transferred Customer Contract and in respect of which the Transferor has, prior to the Relevant Date, given notice to the relevant Customer of the intended transfer of such Wrong Pockets Item from the Transferor to the Transferee pursuant to this Scheme; or
 - 3.9.2 falling within paragraph 3.8.1 or paragraph 3.8.2 and which does not relate to a Transferred Customer Contract.

the Transfer Notice Date shall be a date agreed between the Transferor and the Transferee.

- 3.10 In the case of a Wrong Pockets Item:
 - 3.10.1 falling within paragraph 3.8.1 which relates to a Transferred Customer Contract and in respect of which the Transferor has not, prior to the Relevant Date, given notice to the relevant Customer of the intended transfer of such Wrong Pockets Item from the Transferor to the Transferee pursuant to this Scheme; or
 - 3.10.2 falling within paragraph 3.8.2 and which relates to a Transferred Customer Contract,

paragraph 3.8 shall not have effect unless the Transferor or the Transferee (as appropriate) has given written notice to the relevant Customer affected, informing them of the intended transfer of that Wrong Pockets Item and such Customer either: (i) informs the Transferor or the Transferee that they do not object to such transfer; or (ii) has not, within 28 days of the date of the written notice (or, if earlier, 3 August 2021), informed the Transferor or the Transferee that they object to such transfer.

4. CONTINUITY OF PROCEEDINGS, APPLICATIONS AND DISPUTES

- 4.1 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Scheme, on and from the Relevant Date:
 - 4.1.1 any Proceedings by, against or in relation to and/or in respect of which the Transferor is a party (or, in the case of future proceedings, would have been a party but for this Scheme) (including, without limitation, as the plaintiff, claimant, applicant, defendant, respondent, pursuer, defender or petitioner) to the extent connected with the Business, the

Transferred Assets, the Transferred Liabilities, the Residual Assets or the Residual Liabilities (but excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, any Proceedings in respect of the Transferor Land Security Interests or Transferor Land Security Agreements) shall be commenced or continued by or against the Transferee;

- 4.1.2 the Transferee shall be entitled to all defences, claims, counterclaims, settlements, rights of set-off and any other rights that would have been available to the Transferor in relation to the Business, the Transferred Assets, the Transferred Liabilities, the Residual Assets or the Residual Liabilities in such Proceedings;
- 4.1.3 the Transferee shall assume all Liabilities of the Transferor in respect of such Proceedings including all Liabilities in respect of any counterclaims made in those Proceedings; and
- 4.1.4 any judgment, settlement, order or award obtained by or against the Transferor to the extent that it relates to any part of the Business, the Transferred Assets, the Transferred Liabilities, the Residual Assets or Residual Liabilities (but excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, any judgment, settlement, order or award obtained by or against the Transferor in respect of the Transferor Land Security Interests or Transferor Land Security Agreements) and which is not fully satisfied before the Relevant Date shall, on that date and to the extent to which it was enforceable by or against the Transferor immediately before such date, become enforceable by or against the Transferee (to the exclusion of the Transferor).
- 4.2 To the extent that any Proceedings are made, issued, served, pending, threatened or contemplated in connection with a Residual Item, those Proceedings shall, until the applicable Subsequent Transfer Date for that Residual Item and unless otherwise agreed between the Transferor and the Transferee (provided that such agreement shall not extend to the reduction of the indemnity referred to in paragraph 4.2.2):
 - 4.2.1 be continued by the Transferor in accordance with the instructions of the Transferee; and
 - 4.2.2 the Transferee shall indemnify the Transferor in relation to all costs and expenses incurred in connection with the continuance of such Proceedings or incurred in following the instructions of the Transferee.

5. TRANSFERRED CONTRACTS

Transfer of Transferred Contracts

- 5.1 Without prejudice to the provisions of this Scheme (including, for the avoidance of doubt, paragraph 12), the provisions of this paragraph 5 shall have effect in relation to the Business.
- 5.2 On and from the Relevant Date:
 - 5.2.1 the Transferred Contracts shall be construed as if the Transferee had been an original party thereto instead of the Transferor, such that the contract shall continue in force as between the Transferee and the other party thereto on the terms which applied to that contract prior to the Relevant Date, but without prejudice to any right which the Transferee may have subsequently to vary or terminate such contract, whether under the terms thereof or at law; and
 - 5.2.2 the Transferee shall be entitled to all rights and benefits (subject to the burden) of the Transferor arising under each Transferred Contract.
- 5.3 For the purpose of construing and giving effect to any contract to be transferred pursuant to this Scheme (and including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Transferred Contracts) and which:
 - 5.3.1 continues to have effect after the Relevant Date; and

- 5.3.2 makes reference to a rate, charge, tariff or scale of fees or similar or to terms or conditions published, determined or ascertained from time to time by the Transferor, the Transferee shall (on and from the Relevant Date and without affecting the application of the relevant contractual provisions prior to that date) have the same rights under that contract as the Transferor had to publish, determine, ascertain, vary or amend rates, charges, tariffs, scales of fees, terms or conditions, or other similar matters and any such rates, charges, tariffs, scales of fees, terms or conditions or other similar matters published, determined, ascertained, varied or amended by the Transferee after the Relevant Date shall apply in place of those which could have been published, determined, ascertained, varied or amended by the Transferor.
- 5.4 Any right of action in relation to any agreement, Asset or Liability transferred pursuant to this Scheme and any remedy available in consequence thereof:
 - 5.4.1 which accrues, arises or becomes enforceable or available before the Relevant Date by or against the Transferor and which relates to any part of the Business; or
 - 5.4.2 which would, in the absence of a transfer pursuant to the Order accrue, arise or become enforceable or available by or against the Transferor after the Relevant Date and which relates to any part of the Business,

may be enforced or availed of by or against the Transferee on and from the Relevant Date.

- 5.5 The transfer of the Business under this Scheme:
 - 5.5.1 shall not have the effect of conferring on the Transferee any rights or obligations in respect of the Business which the Transferor did not have prior to the Relevant Date; and
 - 5.5.2 shall have effect whether or not the Transferor would, apart from the terms of this Scheme, have capacity to effect the same.
- 5.6 Any document, claim or demand addressed before or after the Relevant Date to the Transferor pursuant to an existing contract to be transferred pursuant to this Scheme shall, on and from the Relevant Date, be deemed to have been addressed to the Transferee.
- 5.7 The custody of any document or record, goods or other thing held by the Transferor as bailee or custodian or under any similar arrangement in respect of the Business shall pass to the Transferee at, and from, the Relevant Date, and the rights and obligations of the Transferor under any contract of bailment, custody or similar arrangement relating to any such document or record, goods or thing shall become rights and obligations of the Transferee on and from the Relevant Date.

Preserved rights under Transferred Contracts

Where by virtue of the Order any agreement of the Transferor relating to the Business or any Asset or Liability becomes an agreement, asset or liability of the Transferee, the Transferee shall, on and from the Relevant Date, have the same rights, powers and remedies (and, in particular, the same rights and powers as to taking or resisting legal proceedings or making or resisting applications to any authority) for ascertaining, perfecting or enforcing that agreement, asset or liability as if it had at all times been an agreement, asset or a liability of the Transferee.

Amendments

- 5.9 Subject to the terms of this Scheme, on and from the Relevant Date:
 - 5.9.1 the amendments set out in Schedule 1 including all consequential amendments, shall be deemed to be made to each Transferred Contract unless the context of the relevant item or agreement otherwise requires;
 - 5.9.2 without prejudice to the generality of the amendments set out in Schedule 1, the specific amendments shall be deemed to be made to each specific Transferred Contract as set

out in paragraph 14 unless the context of the relevant item or agreement otherwise requires; and

- 5.9.3 if an amendment set out in Schedule 1 conflicts with an amendment set out in paragraph 14 in respect of a Transferred Contract, the amendment set out in paragraph 14 (as the case may be), including all consequential amendments, shall prevail to the extent of the inconsistency unless the context otherwise requires.
- 5.10 If a document that is the same as or similar to a Transferred Contract is issued on or after the Relevant Date by, or for, on behalf of or to, the Transferor in relation to a Transferred Contract or (to the extent transferred at a Subsequent Transfer Date) a Residual Item, such document shall be deemed to have been issued by or for, on behalf of or to, the Transferee and, to the extent required, the relevant amendments referred to in paragraph 5.9 shall be deemed to have been made to such document from the time it was issued.

Offers

- 5.11 Without prejudice to the generality of this paragraph 5, on and from the Effective Date:
 - 5.11.1 any offer made to or by the Transferor prior to the Effective Date shall be construed and have effect as an offer to treat made to or by the Transferee; and
 - 5.11.2 if a person executes an agreement, undertaking, mortgage instrument, Encumbrance or other document as a result of any offer which would, when completed, on its face be an agreement with or undertaking, mortgage, Encumbrance or document in favour of the Transferor such agreement, undertaking, mortgage instrument, Encumbrance or other document shall operate as if it were with or in favour of the Transferee.
- Any agreement, engagement, undertaking, arrangement (including a letter of knowledge or comfort), Mandate or order entered into or made to or by the Transferor as a result of an offer shall, if it would have been a Transferred Contract had it been made or entered into prior to the Effective Date, have effect as if it had originally been entered into or made to or by the Transferee in place of the Transferor and shall be subject to the same amendments in accordance with paragraph 5.9 as apply to Transferred Contract of its type.

6. CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS

Accounts

- Any account between the Transferor and a Customer (including, but not limited to the Customer Accounts) shall, on and from the Relevant Date, become an account between the Transferee and that Customer and shall be subject to the same terms and conditions (subject to the amendments deemed to be made in accordance with paragraph 5.9) as applied immediately before the Relevant Date, and such account shall be deemed for all purposes to be a single continuing account and each balance associated with such account shall transfer with such account in accordance with the terms of this Scheme.
- Save in relation to the Banknote Business, any negotiable instrument, cheque, warrant, draft, letter of credit, order for payment of money, performance bond or guarantee relating to any part of the Business drawn on or by, or given to, or accepted or endorsed by, the Transferor, or payable at any place of business of the Transferor in the course of carrying on the Business, or otherwise payable by the Transferor whether so drawn, given, accepted, endorsed or payable before or after the Relevant Date, shall have the same effect on and from the Relevant Date as if it had been drawn on or by, or given to, or accepted or endorsed by, the Transferee, or, as the case may be as if the place of business at which it is payable were the place of business of the Transferee.
- All payments attributable or referable to the Customer Accounts or pursuant to any other Customer Contract shall on and from the Relevant Date be payable to the Transferee and shall be receivable by the Transferee instead of the Transferor.

Transferred Loans

Any Transferred Loans made to any Customer by the Transferor on or before the Relevant Date, shall on and from that day, become Loans made between the Transferee and such Customer, and the Transferee will have all rights, powers, remedies and priority in relation to any other lenders or other finance parties to such Customer as the Transferor had immediately before the Relevant Date.

Continuation of direct debits and mandates

- Any existing Mandate given to or by the Transferor in the course of carrying on the Business whether in writing or not (including, for the avoidance of doubt, in relation to the Customer Accounts or Customer Contracts) shall have effect on and from the Relevant Date as if given to or, as the case may be, by the Transferee.
- 6.6 For the avoidance of doubt, on and from the Relevant Date the Transferee may rely on each such Mandate in respect of any instructions given to the Transferee pursuant to such Mandate after the Relevant Date.

Sanctions Customers

6.7 Any Customer Account that would otherwise become an account of a Customer or other person with the Transferee as a consequence of this Scheme will not become an account of that Customer or other person with the Transferee (and any associated account balance will not transfer in respect of that Customer Account) if such Customer or other person is a Sanctions Customer or if the transfer or creation of such Customer Account (or the transfer of the associated account balance) would be prohibited by any Applicable Laws (including pursuant to any sanctions regime maintained by a Sanctions Authority beyond those regimes relating to Designated Persons and the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002). This paragraph 6.7 shall apply unless and until the Transferor and/or Transferee has been granted the licences or consents required (if available in the circumstances) to permit the transfer or creation of the Customer Account with the Transferee or the relevant Applicable Laws preventing the transfer or creation of such Customer Account cease to apply. Upon the grant of such licences and/or consents or upon such relevant Applicable Laws ceasing to apply (as the case may be), the relevant Customer Account (and any associated account balance) shall become a Customer Account with the Transferee (and the associated account balance shall transfer with the account). This paragraph 6.7 shall not apply if, and to the extent that, it would induce any party to this Scheme to act in a manner that would be in breach of any provision of Council Regulation (EC) No 2271/1996 of 22 November 1996 protecting against the effects of the extra-territorial application of legislation adopted by a third country, and actions based thereon or resulting therefrom (the "Blocking Regulation") (or any law or regulation implementing such Regulation in any member state of the European Union or the United Kingdom).

Frozen Transferred Assets, Transferred Liabilities and/or Residual Items

Any Transferred Asset, Transferred Liability (and to the extent transferred at a Subsequent Transfer Date) Residual Item which is the subject of a freezing order or other restriction granted by a Court of competent jurisdiction shall, following its transfer to the Transferee, be subject to the same restrictions as applied to such Transferred Asset, Transferred Liability or Residual Item (as the case may be) immediately before the Relevant Date.

Authorities in respect of provision of financial or other information

Where a Customer has provided to the Transferor authority to provide certain financial or other information to third parties including any member of the Group, to the relevant Customer's auditors, regulators, judicial or supervening authorities, or other third party authorities, agents or advisers, on and from the Relevant Date, such authority shall be deemed to have been conferred upon the Transferee without any further act or instrument.

7. GUARANTEES AND INDEMNITIES

- 7.1 Without prejudice to the provisions of this Scheme (including, for the avoidance of doubt, paragraph 12.6), on and from the Relevant Date:
 - 7.1.1 each Transferred Guarantee/Indemnity, and all rights, title and interest therein, shall be transferred to, held by, vested in and enforceable by, the Transferee as if the Transferee, instead of the Transferor, had always been the beneficiary of such Transferred Guarantee/Indemnity and as if it was made with the Transferee instead of the Transferor; and
 - 7.1.2 each Transferred Guarantee/Indemnity shall extend to, and shall be enforceable by, the Transferee as beneficiary thereof with respect to the relevant Liabilities of a Customer or other third party which are owed to the Transferee to which the Guarantee/Indemnity relates and which have transferred to the Transferee pursuant to this Scheme and the Transferee shall be entitled to the same rights as those to which the Transferor is entitled immediately before the Relevant Date; and
 - 7.1.3 all representations, warranties, covenants, obligations and liabilities (howsoever described) of the Relevant Guarantor under a Transferred Guarantee/Indemnity shall remain binding on the Relevant Guarantor and shall, as applicable, be owed (and, where relevant, due and payable) to the Transferee, as beneficiaries thereof, as the case may be, on and from the Relevant Date, to the same extent as they were binding on, and/or owed (and, where relevant, due and payable) by, the Relevant Guarantor to the Transferor prior to the Relevant Date.
- 7.2 No Transferred Guarantee/Indemnity will be impaired or prejudiced by its transfer to the Transferee in accordance with paragraph 7.1.1.

8. TRANSFERRED SECURITY INTEREST

- 8.1 Any Transferred Security Interest held immediately before the Relevant Date by the Transferor (whether on the Transferor's own behalf, in the Transferor's capacity as security agent or security trustee, or in any other capacity), or any Transferor Nominee shall, on and from the Relevant Date:
 - 8.1.1 be held by and vested in the Transferee or, as the case may be, in the relevant Transferee Nominee on behalf of the Transferee as if the Transferee or the Transferee Nominee (as the case may be) had always held and the Transferee had always had the benefit of that Transferred Security Interest and/or as if the Transferred Security Interest was always held by or on behalf of, or for the benefit of, the Transferee by the Transferee Nominee (as the case may be) and, if the Transferred Security Interest is not physically delivered to or held by the Transferee on the Relevant Date, it shall be deemed to be so delivered on that date:
 - 8.1.2 have effect as if it was made with the Transferee and the Transferee shall be entitled to all rights and benefits (subject to the burden) of the Transferor arising under each Transferred Security Agreement on and from the Relevant Date; and
 - 8.1.3 be available to, and enforceable to the same extent by, the Transferee or, as the case may be, by the relevant Transferee Nominee on behalf of the Transferee, with respect to any Liabilities (including any principal, interest, fees, charges or other sums) to which the Transferred Security Interest relates.
- 8.2 In relation to each Transferred Security Interest and any Liabilities thereby secured or supported, the Transferee or, as the case may be, the relevant Transferee Nominee on behalf of the Transferee shall, on and from the Relevant Date, be entitled to the same rights, ranking and priorities and be subject to the same obligations and incidents as those to which the Transferor was entitled and to which it was subject immediately before the Relevant Date.

- 8.3 No Transferred Security Interest or Transferred Security Agreement will be impaired or prejudiced by its transfer to the Transferee in accordance with paragraphs 8.1.
- 8.4 Subject to paragraph 12, any Transferred Security Interest referred to in this paragraph 8 which extends to further advances or liabilities shall, on and from the Relevant Date, be available to the Transferee (whether for its own benefit or, as the case may be, for the benefit of any other person) as security for the payment of future advances or liabilities to the same extent and in the same manner in all respects as it was available to the Transferor immediately before the Relevant Date as security for the payment or discharge of future advances or liabilities.

9. QUALIFYING DEPOSITS

- 9.1 Where, immediately following the Relevant Date, a Qualifying Customer holds with the Transferee one or more Qualifying Deposits (including any Qualifying Deposits transferred pursuant to this Scheme) with an aggregate balance in excess of the FSCS Limit, the Transferee shall permit, during the period of three months immediately following the Relevant Date, such Qualifying Customer to withdraw all, or any part, of such Qualifying Deposits such that the aggregate balance of the Qualifying Deposits remaining with the Transferee after such withdrawal will be equal to the greater of:
 - 9.1.1 the FSCS Limit; or
 - 9.1.2 an amount equal to the aggregate balance (if any) of the Qualifying Deposits that the Qualifying Customer had with the Transferee immediately prior to the Relevant Date,

such withdrawal to take effect as soon as reasonably practicable.

- 9.2 Any withdrawal request made in accordance with paragraph 9.1:
 - 9.2.1 shall be made on a Business Day; and
 - 9.2.2 shall be free from any penalty, fee, notice or charge (including loss of accrued interest) which may otherwise apply in accordance with the terms and conditions that applied to the relevant Qualifying Deposits immediately following the Relevant Date.

10. CONFIDENTIALITY, DATA PROTECTION AND ACCESS TO BUSINESS RECORDS

Confidentiality and Data Protection

- 10.1 On and from the Relevant Date, the Transferee shall, in relation to the Business, owe to any relevant person the same duties of confidentiality and privacy as those which the Transferor owed in relation to the Business immediately before the Relevant Date.
- The parties shall each ensure that all Personal Data transferred to the Transferee as part of the Business is transferred in compliance with the provisions of all relevant Data Protection Laws and in a manner that permits the Transferee to process the Personal Data in the normal course of operating the Business on and from the Effective Date. This includes, but is not limited to, requesting the Court to order the transfer of all relevant Personal Data (including Special Categories of Data) as defined in the Data Protection Laws from the Transferor to the Transferee.
- 10.3 On and from the Relevant Date, the Transferee shall:
 - 10.3.1 succeed to all rights, liabilities and obligations of the Transferor in respect of any Personal Data which relates to the Business and which is subject to the Data Protection Law;
 - 10.3.2 become the Controller of any Personal Data which relates to the Business and which is subject to the Data Protection Laws in place of the Transferor;

- 10.3.3 be deemed to have received, obtained or have had made available to it any information made available to, or consent obtained regarding the processing of Special Categories of Data or request or other notice (including any Marketing Preference) received from, any Data Subject by or on behalf of the Transferor in respect of the Personal Data which relates to the Business, provided always that the Transferee processes the Personal Data for the same purposes and in the same manner as the Transferor processed the Personal Data up to the Relevant Date;
- 10.3.4 in respect of any Personal Data which relates to the Business, be under the same duty by virtue of any law as the Transferor was under to respect the confidentiality and privacy of any person in relation to that Personal Data and shall be bound by any specific notice or consent given, or request made by, the Data Subject which was binding on the Transferor and which required the Transferor not to use the Personal Data for direct marketing purposes;
- 10.3.5 comply with the Data Protection Laws in connection with its processing of Personal Data which relates to the Business; and
- 10.3.6 if notified by the Transferor that the Transferor or any third party has received any complaint, notice or communication that relates directly or indirectly to the Transferee's compliance with the Data Protection Laws, or any of the following in relation to the Transferee's processing of the Personal Data:
 - (a) an enquiry from a Data Subject or a Supervisory Authority;
 - (b) any complaint, notice or communication; or
 - (c) a request from a Data Subject exercising his rights under the Data Protection Laws including a Subject Access Request.

deal with or respond to those enquiries, complaints, notices, communications or requests in accordance with the Data Protection Laws,

and, in relation to any information, consent, request or other notice given by a Data Subject in respect of such Personal Data as is mentioned in this paragraph 10.3, any reference to the Transferor (or to any member of the NatWest Group) shall be deemed to include a reference to the Transferee.

- The Transferor shall provide such assistance to the Transferee as the Transferee may reasonably require from time to time in order to meet its obligations under Data Protection Laws (including but not limited to the obligations assumed under paragraph 10.3). The Transferor shall provide such notice referred to in paragraph 10.3.6 within 5 days of becoming aware of any such complaints, notices or communications set out in paragraph 10.3.6.
- Where, in relation to a Transferred Asset, a Transferred Liability or (to the extent transferred at a Subsequent Transfer Date) a Residual Item, the Transferor has the right to share information within the NatWest Group or a part of it or with other persons, the Transferee shall, on and from the Relevant Date, be entitled to share the subject of the same. If the terms and conditions applicable pursuant to or in respect of a Transferred Asset, a Transferred Liability or (to the extent transferred at a Subsequent Transfer Date) a Residual Item prohibit or restrict the Transferor or the Transferee or their respective professional advisers or other representatives from sharing information with each other or from sharing what is reasonable information to share with a regulator in order to give effect to this Scheme, such prohibitions or restrictions shall be deemed to not apply and the Transferor and Transferee and their respective advisers or other representatives shall be deemed to have executed any documents, provided any undertakings and to have met any pre-conditions required pursuant to such prohibitions or restrictions and shall, therefore, be permitted to share such information with each other subject, in each case, to Applicable Laws.

Business Records

Subject to the same being treated as confidential information and being kept confidential by the persons provided access thereto under this paragraph 10, on and from the Relevant Date the Transferee shall allow the Transferor and any persons authorised by the Transferor to have access on reasonable written notice to the Business Records for a reasonable business purpose, save to the extent that the Transferee is prevented from doing so by any Applicable Laws (including, without limitation, any obligation as to confidentiality) or order of the Court or any competent judicial, governmental, regulatory or supervisory body.

Marketing Preferences

- 10.7 Where, prior to the Relevant Date, a Customer has provided Marketing Preferences to the Transferor, the Marketing Preferences provided by the Customer to the Transferor for any given product to be offered by the Transferor after the Relevant Date shall be deemed to apply to the Transferee on and from the Relevant Date.
- 10.8 On and from the Relevant Date, the Transferee shall have the benefit of the Marketing Preferences deemed to apply in accordance with paragraph 10.7 above, on the same terms as the Transferor had prior to the Relevant Date in relation to such Marketing Preferences.

Subject Access Requests

Where a Customer has made a Subject Access Request to the Transferor before the Relevant Date and the Transferor has not responded with a copy of the Personal Data held by it in accordance with the Data Protection Laws before the Relevant Date, the Transferee may respond to the request, in accordance with the Data Protection Laws, by providing copies of any relevant Personal Data held by the Transferor (but, for the avoidance of doubt, not any Personal Data that was solely held by the Transferee) immediately before the Relevant Date.

Evidence: books and documents

- 10.10 All books and other documents which would, prior to the Effective Date, have been evidence in respect of any matter for or against the Transferor immediately before the Effective Date, shall be admissible in evidence in respect of the same matter for or against the Transferee on and after the Effective Date.
- 10.11 On and from the Effective Date, the Bankers' Books Evidence Act 1879 shall apply to any books of the Transferrer transferred to, and vested in, the Transferee by virtue of this Scheme, and to entries made in those books prior to the Effective Date, as if such books were the books of the Transferee.
- 10.12 For the purposes of section 4 of the Bankers' Books Evidence Act 1879, books so transferred to, and vested in, the Transferee shall be deemed to have been the ordinary books of the Transferee at the time of the making of any entry therein which purports to have been made prior to the Effective Date, and any such entry shall be deemed to have been made in the usual and ordinary course of business.
- 10.13 In these paragraphs 10.10 to 10.13 "books" shall be construed in accordance with section 9(2) of the Bankers' Books Evidence Act 1879 and "documents" shall have the same meaning as in section 13 of the Civil Evidence Act 1995.

Know your customer information

10.14 The Transferee shall, upon the reasonable request of a Requesting Party, promptly supply or procure the supply of copies of any information, documentation or other evidence reasonably required by such Requesting Party for compliance with any applicable KYC Requirements, to the extent that the same result from the transfer of the Business and to the extent that such information, documentation or evidence is not already available to such Requesting Party.

11. DECLARATION OF TRUST BY THE TRANSFEROR

11.1 If:

- 11.1.1 any Asset that would otherwise be a Transferred Asset is not, or is not capable of being, transferred to and vested in the Transferee by the Order on the Effective Date by reason of:
 - (a) such Asset being a Residual Asset; or
 - (b) such Asset being outside the jurisdiction of the Court; or
 - (c) any other reason; or
- 11.1.2 any Residual Asset is not, or is not capable of being, transferred to and vested in the Transferee by the Order on the Subsequent Transfer Date applicable thereto; or
- 11.1.3 the transfer of any Asset that would otherwise be a Transferred Asset outside the jurisdiction of the Court is not recognised by the laws of the jurisdiction in which such asset is situated; or
- 11.1.4 in any circumstances the Transferor and the Transferoe shall decide prior to the Effective Date (or, in the case of any Residual Asset, before the Subsequent Transfer Date applicable thereto) that it is expedient not to effect a transfer of any Asset that would otherwise be a Transferred Asset,

then the Transferor shall, on and from the Effective Date (but save to the extent that giving effect to such a trust would require a consent or waiver referred to in paragraph (a) of the definition of Residual Asset, which has not been obtained) hold any Asset referred to in paragraphs 11.1.1 to 11.1.4 (together with any proceeds of sale or income or other accrual or return arising in respect thereof (including any payment, property or right within paragraph 11.7 below)) on trust absolutely for the Transferee, and the Transferor and the Transferee shall use their respective reasonable endeavours to procure that the relevant impediment or restriction on the transfer of such asset is removed or resolved as soon as is reasonably practicable.

- 11.2 Upon the transfer of a Residual Asset to the Transferee at the relevant Subsequent Transfer Date, the trust arrangement contemplated by paragraph 11.1 shall cease.
- In the case of a Residual Item that is a Transferred Security Interest or a Transferred Guarantee/Indemnity, unless otherwise agreed between the Transferor and the Transferee, all Assets and Liabilities of the Transferor under or in respect of the Transferred Contract to which that Transferred Security Interest or Transferred Guarantee/Indemnity relates shall also be deemed to be Residual Items and shall not transfer to the Transferee until the Subsequent Transfer Date at which such Transferred Security Interest or Transferred Guarantee/Indemnity transfers.
- 11.4 In the case of a Residual Item comprising the Transferor's Assets and/or Liabilities under or in respect of a Transferred Contract, unless otherwise agreed between the Transferor and the Transferee, any Transferred Security Interest or Transferred Guarantee/Indemnity granted in favour of the Transferor in connection with that Transferred Contract shall also be deemed to be a Residual Item and shall not transfer to the Transferee until the Subsequent Transfer Date at which the Assets and/or Liabilities under or in respect of the Transferred Contracts transfer.
- Any reference to a "Residual Item", "Residual Asset" or "Residual Liability" in this Scheme shall also be construed to be a reference to the rights and benefits and Liabilities (as the case may be) of the Transferor under or in respect of each Transferred Contract, Transferred Security Interest or Transferred Guarantee/Indemnity which is deemed to be a Residual Item in accordance with paragraphs 11.3 or 11.4.
- 11.6 The Transferor shall be subject to directions from the Transferee in respect of any Residual Asset and any Residual Liability referred to in paragraphs 11.1.1 to 11.1.4 on and from the Effective Date

until the relevant Residual Asset or Residual Liability is transferred to or otherwise vested in the Transferee or is disposed of (whereupon the Transferor shall account to the Transferee for the proceeds of disposal thereof), and the Transferee shall have authority to act as the attorney of the Transferor in respect of such Residual Asset or Residual Liability for all such purposes. In relation to any contract which is a Residual Asset, the Transferee shall, as the Transferor's sub-contractor, perform all obligations of the Transferor to be performed on or after the Effective Date.

- 11.7 Subject to paragraphs 15.4 and 15.7 and notwithstanding paragraphs 3.8 to 3.10 (inclusive), in the event of any payment being made to, asset being received by, right being conferred upon, or benefit accruing to, the Transferor on or after the Effective Date in respect of the Business, any Transferred Asset or any Transferred Liability or (after the Subsequent Transfer Date applicable thereto) any Residual Asset, the Transferor shall, as soon as is reasonably practicable after its receipt, pay over the full amount of such payment or (to the extent to which it is able to do so) transfer (by means of a transfer at the relevant Land Registryland registry, Register register or otherwise) such asset or right to, or in accordance with the directions of, the Transferee.
- 11.8 Each of the provisions of paragraph 8 relating to a Transferred Security Interest shall also apply to the same extent and subject to the same terms to a Security Interest granted in favour of the Transferor securing a Liability of any person in connection with (to the extent transferred at a Subsequent Transfer Date) a Residual Item and the provisions of paragraph 8 shall be construed accordingly.
- 11.9 Each of the provisions of paragraph 7 relating to a Transferred Guarantee/Indemnity shall also apply to, to the extent and subject to the terms of, a Guarantee/Indemnity given in respect of (to the extent transferred at a Subsequent Transfer Date) a Residual Item and the provisions of paragraph 7 shall be construed accordingly.
- 11.10 The Transferee shall indemnify the Transferor on demand against any costs or liabilities incurred by the Transferor in making a payment or transfer pursuant to paragraph 11.7 above.
- 11.11 The Transferee shall, on and from the Effective Date to the Subsequent Transfer Date applicable to a Residual Liability, indemnify the Transferor against such Residual Liability and any and all costs settled or incurred by the Transferor as a result of any failure to discharge each such Residual Liability.

12. PROVISIONS RELATING TO CUSTOMERS

Set-Off

- 12.1 Without prejudice to the generality of paragraph 6, the Transferee shall not be entitled on and from the Relevant Date, to apply any rights of set-off, which might otherwise be exercisable by the Transferee as a result of this Scheme, to reduce or discharge any liability arising from time to time:
 - 12.1.1 under any Existing Transferee Agreement using credit balances held pursuant to any Transferred Customer Contract or Land Security Agreement; or
 - 12.1.2 under any Transferred Customer Contract or Land Security Agreement using credit balances held pursuant to any Existing Transferee Agreement,

save that this restriction shall not apply to any set-off rights where, immediately before the Relevant Date, an (i) Existing Transferee Agreement or (ii) Transferred Customer Contract or Land Security Agreement (in each case, as the case may be) permits set-off between credit balances held with the Transferor and liabilities owed to the Transferor, and/or set-off between credit balances held with the Transferee and liabilities owed to the Transferor.

- 12.2 The restrictions set out in paragraph 12.1 shall cease to apply in relation to credit balances held pursuant to (i) any Existing Transferee Agreement or (ii) any Transferred Customer Contract or any Land Security Agreement as follows:
 - 12.2.1 where the credit balance is at the Relevant Date held for a fixed term, the date that falls three months after the expiry of that term;
 - 12.2.2 where the credit balance is at the Relevant Date held on terms that a promotional rate of interest will be lost if the deposit is withdrawn before the end of a certain period, on the date that falls three months after the expiry of that period; and
 - 12.2.3 in all other cases, on the date that falls three months after the Relevant Date.

All Monies Rights

- 12.3 Without prejudice to the generality of paragraph 6, the Transferee shall not be entitled on and from the Relevant Date to apply any All Monies Rights, which might otherwise be exercisable by the Transferee as a result of this Scheme:
 - 12.3.1 under any Existing Transferee Agreement to secure any liability arising from time to time under any Transferred Customer Contract or Land Security Agreement; or
 - 12.3.2 under any Transferred Customer Contract or Land Security Agreement to secure any liability arising from time to time under any Existing Transferee Agreement,
 - save that this restriction shall not apply to:
 - 12.3.3 any All Monies Rights under an Existing Transferee Agreement which, immediately before the Relevant Date, secured liabilities arising under any Transferred Customer Contract or Land Security Agreement; or
 - 12.3.4 any All Monies Rights under a Transferred Customer Contract or Land Security Agreement which, immediately before the Relevant Date, secured liabilities arising under any Existing Transferee Agreement.

Consolidation Rights

- 12.4 Without prejudice to the generality of paragraph 6, the Transferee shall not be entitled on and from the Relevant Date to apply Consolidation Rights which might otherwise be exercisable by the Transferee as a result of this Scheme to prevent the release of any Encumbrance given in relation to:
 - 12.4.1 any Existing Transferee Agreement until any obligations have been satisfied under any Transferred Customer Contract or Land Security Agreement; or
 - 12.4.2 any Transferred Customer Contract or any Land Security Agreement until any obligations have been satisfied under any Existing Transferee Agreement,
 - save that this restriction shall not apply to:
 - 12.4.3 any Consolidation Rights under an Existing Transferee Agreement which, immediately before the Relevant Date, were exercisable in relation to obligations arising under any Transferred Customer Contract or any Land Security Agreement; or
 - 12.4.4 any Consolidation Rights under a Transferred Customer Contract or a Land Security Agreement which, immediately before the Relevant Date, were exercisable in relation to obligations arising under any Existing Transferee Agreement.

Cross-Default Rights

- 12.5 Without prejudice to the generality of paragraph 6, the Transferee shall not be entitled on and from the Relevant Date to apply any Cross Default Rights, which might otherwise be exercisable by the Transferee as a result of this Scheme, to accelerate or alter any rights or obligations:
 - 12.5.1 under any Existing Transferee Agreement as a result of the breach of any Transferred Customer Contract or any Land Security Agreement; or
 - 12.5.2 under any Transferred Customer Contract or any Land Security Agreement as a result of the breach of any Existing Transferee Agreement,

save that this restriction shall not apply to:

- 12.5.3 any Cross Default Rights which would have been exercisable under any Existing Transferee Agreement as a result of the breach of any Transferred Customer Contract or any Land Security Agreement if that breach had occurred immediately before the Relevant Date; or
- 12.5.4 any Cross Default Rights which would have been exercisable under any Transferred Customer Contract or any Land Security Agreement as a result of the breach of any Existing Transferee Agreement if that breach had occurred immediately before the Relevant Date.

Guarantee Rights

- 12.6 Without prejudice to the generality of paragraph 7, the Transferee shall not be entitled on and from the Relevant Date to rely on any Guarantee/Indemnity Rights which would otherwise be exercisable by the Transferee as a result of this Scheme:
 - 12.6.1 under any Existing Transferee Agreement in respect of Liabilities arising under a Transferred Customer Contract or a Land Security Agreement; or
 - 12.6.2 under any Transferred Guarantee/Indemnity or a Land Security Agreement in respect of Liabilities arising under an Existing Transferee Agreement,

other than to the extent those Guarantee/Indemnity Rights would have applied to the Liabilities under the relevant Transferred Customer Contract, Land Security Agreement or the Existing Transferee Agreement (as the case may be) immediately before the Relevant Date.

General Existing Agreement Rights

- 12.7 Without prejudice to the generality of paragraph 6, the Transferee shall not be entitled on and from the Relevant Date to apply any other right, benefit or power which might otherwise be exercisable by the Transferee solely by virtue of this Scheme under or in relation to any:
 - 12.7.1 Existing Transferee Agreement:
 - to reduce, alter, discharge or otherwise secure any liability arising from time to time under any Transferred Customer Contract or any Land Security Agreement; or
 - (b) which would otherwise entitle the Transferee not to repay any credit balance, or which would otherwise restrict a Customer from disposing of, charging or dealing with, any credit balance, in each case under a Transferred Customer Contract or a Land Security Agreement, until a liability to the Transferee under an Existing Transferee Agreement has been discharged, or
 - 12.7.2 Transferred Customer Contract or Land Security Agreement:

- to reduce, alter, discharge or otherwise secure any liability arising from time to time under any Existing Transferee Agreement; or
- (b) which would otherwise entitle the Transferee not to repay any credit balance, or which would otherwise restrict a Customer from disposing of, charging or dealing with, any credit balance, in each case under an Existing Transferee Agreement until a liability to the Transferee under a Transferred Customer Contract or a Land Security Agreement has been discharged.
- 12.8 The provisions of paragraph 12.7 shall not apply to vary any rights which immediately before the Relevant Date the Transferee had under an Existing Transferee Agreement or the Transferor had under a Transferred Customer Contract or a Land Security Agreement.
- 12.9 The restrictions set out in paragraph 12.7 shall cease to apply in relation to credit balances held pursuant to (i) any Existing Transferee Agreement or (ii) any Transferred Customer Contract or Land Security Agreement as follows:
 - 12.9.1 where the credit balance is at the Relevant Date held for a fixed term, the date that falls three months after the expiry of that term;
 - 12.9.2 where the credit balance is at the Relevant Date held on terms that a promotional rate of interest will be lost if the deposit is withdrawn before the end of a certain period, on the date that falls three months after the expiry of that period; and
 - 12.9.3 in all other cases, on the date that falls three months after the Relevant Date.

Entire Agreement Clauses

- 12.10 Where a Transferred Customer Contract or a Land Security Agreement contains an Entire Agreement Clause, on and from the Relevant Date, the relevant clause shall be read and construed as if it referred only to products or services comprised in the Business, and shall not apply to, and the Transferred Customer Contract or Land Security Agreement shall not supersede, any Existing Transferee Agreements.
- 12.11 Where an Existing Transferee Agreement contains an Entire Agreement Clause, on and from the Relevant Date, the relevant clause shall be read and construed as if it referred only to products or services of the Transferee not comprised in the Business, and shall not apply to, and the Existing Transferee Agreement shall not supersede, any Transferred Customer Contract or any Land Security Agreement.
- 12.12 Where a New Transferee Agreement contains an Entire Agreement Clause, the relevant clause shall, unless expressly stated to the contrary, be read and construed as if it referred only to products or services of the Transferee not comprised in the Business, and shall not apply to, and the New Transferee Agreement shall not supersede, any Transferred Customer Contract or any Land Security Agreement.

General Provisions

12.13 The provisions of this paragraph 12 shall not apply to diminish, reduce or otherwise affect the enforceability of any right, benefit or power (other than any unilateral variation or amendment power which may be used to vary or amend any of the terms of a Transferred Contract, Land Security Agreement, Existing Transferee Agreement or New Transferee Agreement in a manner that is contrary to the provisions of this paragraph 12) which the Transferee or a Customer may acquire other than as a result of the Scheme, including as a result of the variation on or after the Relevant Date of a Transferred Contract, Land Security Agreement, Existing Transferee Agreement or New Transferee Agreement.

13. INDEMNITIES IN FAVOUR OF THE TRANSFEROR

- 13.1 On and from the Effective Date, the Transferee shall discharge on the Transferor's behalf or, failing that, shall indemnify the Transferor against:
 - 13.1.1 charges, liabilities, costs and claims arising in respect of all Transferred Assets and Residual Assets, and all Transferred Liabilities and Residual Liabilities which are not, or are not capable of being, transferred by this Scheme or by a vesting order pursuant to section 112(1) of FSMA (whether made before, on or after the Effective Date) (other than liabilities which are the subject of paragraph 13.1.3 below) until the relevant liability is transferred to or becomes a liability of the Transferee;
 - 13.1.2 charges, liabilities, costs and claims incurred by the Transferor in acting as Security Trustee in respect of the Transferor Land Security Interests, but only to the extent the Transferor has not recovered any such amounts pursuant to any applicable indemnities in favour of the Transferor under an Amended Existing Security Trust Agreement; and
 - 13.1.3 any amount paid by the Transferor in respect of any liabilities of the Transferor in respect of the Business that are, whether wholly or in part, the subject of a policy of indemnity insurance or a claim or right of recovery against a third party, but only to the extent that the Transferor, having made a claim under such a policy or against such third party, shall have failed to recover any such amount pursuant to rights it may have under such policy, claim or right of recovery (having used all reasonable endeavours to do so).
- The Transferee shall indemnify the Transferor against any costs and/or expenses which the Transferor may incur in pursuing any claim under a policy or against any such third party as is referred to in paragraph 13.1.3 above (including under any applicable contract of insurance). Subject thereto, the Transferor shall take such steps as the Transferee shall require in order to pursue the rights it may have against any such third party (including under any applicable contract of insurance). The Transferee shall be entitled to have conduct of all litigation or other proceedings in respect of any such claim (including taking such action in the name of and on behalf of the Transferor as the Transferee shall determine). In that connection, the Transferor shall give all such assistance as the Transferee may reasonably require in conducting all such litigation or other proceedings.
- 13.3 The Transferor shall use reasonable endeavours to recover charges, liabilities, costs and claims under any applicable indemnities in favour of the Transferor pursuant to an Amended Existing Security Trust Agreement, and which are incurred by the Transferor in acting as Security Trustee in respect of the Transferor Land Security Interests.
- Where the Transferor is entitled to receive an amount pursuant to the indemnities contained in paragraphs 11.11, 13.1 and 13.2, it shall be entitled to receive such amount on the basis that in calculating the amount payable by the Transferee pursuant to such obligation (the "Transferee Payment"), the amount so payable shall be adjusted upwards or downwards, as the case may be, so as to take into account:
 - 13.4.1 any Taxation which is required by Applicable Law to be deducted or withheld from such amount, or is chargeable on such amount on receipt of the same by the Transferor (including any increased or additional amount); and
 - 13.4.2 the value of any Tax Relief to the extent available to the Transferor solely as a result of the matter giving rise to the obligation or as a result of receiving the Transferee Payment,

(which Taxation and value of any Tax Relief is to be determined, taking into account all relevant factors, including, in the case of the value of a Tax Relief, the anticipated timing of its utilisation, by the Transferor in its absolute discretion but acting in good faith and is to be certified as such to the Transferee).

14. APPOINTMENT OF TRANSFEROR AS SECURITY TRUSTEE

- 14.1 On and with effect from the Effective Date, the Transferor is appointed to act as Security Trustee in respect of the legal title to the Transferor Land Security Interests and, in that capacity shall hold all legal title to the Transferor Land Security Interests on trust for the Transferee, NatWest Markets and/or any other person (as applicable) pursuant to the Security Trust Arrangements as security for the payment, discharge and/or performance of:
 - 14.1.1 the relevant Transferred Assets which are or may be secured or supported by the Transferor Land Security Interests; and
 - 14.1.2 any other Liabilities which were secured by the relevant Transferor Land Security Interests immediately before the Effective Date.
- 14.2 On and with effect from the Effective Date, the terms and conditions of any Transferor Land Security Interests (excluding Transferor Land Security Interests which are Existing Security Trust Agreements) and the terms and conditions of any Transferred Contracts relating to Transferor Land Security Interests shall be amended (to the extent substantially equivalent provisions are not set out in such Transferor Land Security Interests or Transferred Contracts) as follows:
 - 14.2.1 any references to the Transferor, "Bank", or any other term which is defined to refer to, or is by reference to the context to be construed as a reference to, the Transferor (or, in each case, any predecessor in title of the Transferor) as the holder of the Transferor Land Security Interest (whether for its own account, as security agent, or security trustee) shall be construed as a reference to the Transferor (or any successor trustee or successor agent) as security trustee/security agent (as applicable) for and on behalf of the Transferee, NatWest Markets or any other person as applicable (and any successor or assignee of its respective rights in connection with the Transferred Assets) as the secured party;
 - 14.2.2 the security trustee/security agent shall be permitted to delegate any or all of its powers and responsibilities as security trustee/security agent as it considers appropriate in its sole discretion:
 - 14.2.3 the Transferor shall be entitled to resign from its position as security trustee/security agent by designating another member of the NatWest Group to assume the rights and duties of security trustee/security agent; and
 - 14.2.4 each Transferor Land Security Agreement excluding Transferor Land Security Agreements which are Existing Security Trust Agreements shall be amended by including the following clause:

"Miscellaneous

The rights of the security trustee and the security granted under this mortgage deed, security deed, standard security or security agreement are held by the security trustee for the benefit of National Westminster Bank Plc (and its respective successors and assignees)."

- 14.3 On and with effect from the Effective Date, the Transferor as Security Trustee in respect of the legal title to the Transferor Land Security Interests which are Existing Security Trust Agreements shall be subject to the same rights and obligations which were applicable to the Transferor in its capacity as security trustee or security agent as applicable pursuant to any Existing Security Trust Agreements immediately before the Effective Date.
- 14.4 No party to an Existing Security Trust Agreement shall be obliged to pay any additional fees to the Transferor under an Amended Existing Security Trust Agreement for performing the role of security agent/security trustee (as applicable) as a consequence of paragraph 14.3 other than to the extent agreed between the necessary parties to that Amended Existing Security Trust Agreement.

15. THIRD PARTY DISPOSALS

- 15.1 Without prejudice to paragraph 3.4 or 11, on and from the Effective Date the Transferor and the Transferee shall use all reasonable endeavours to, as soon as reasonably practicable, procure the registration of the transfer of the legal title of the Third Party Disposal Assets to the Transferee at any relevant land registry or other register including, without limitation, the registration of the transfer of the legal title to the Third Party Disposal Assets which are:
 - 15.1.1 Land Security Interests to the Transferee at the Northern Irish Land Registry and/or the Registry of Deeds of Northern Ireland (as applicable); and
 - 15.1.2 Irish Land Security Interests to the Transferee at the Property Registration Authority of Ireland and/or the Registry of Deeds in Ireland (as applicable).
- On and with effect from the Effective Date and until the relevant Registration Date in respect of a Third Party Disposal Asset, the Transferor shall, and the Transferee shall procure that the Transferor shall, comply with the obligations and restrictions set out in a relevant Third Party Disposal Agreement in relation to:
 - 15.2.1 a relevant Third Party Disposal Asset held by the Transferor;
 - 15.2.2 the provision of information received by the Transferor in relation to the relevant Third Party Disposal Assets Agreements; and
 - 15.2.3 any confidentiality obligations set out in the Third Party Disposal Agreements,

as if references in the Third Party Disposal Agreements to the Transferee (as provided for by this Scheme and in particular paragraphs 3.4 and 5) were references to the Transferor.

- 15.3 Paragraph 15.2 above shall not restrict the Transferee from complying with the Transferor's obligations set out in paragraph 15.1.
- On and with effect from the Effective Date and until the relevant Registration Date in respect of the relevant Third Party Disposal Asset, the Transferor shall, and the Transferee shall procure that the Transferor shall, take or refrain from taking any action in relation to a Third Party Disposal Asset held by the Transferor as instructed by the Third Party Purchasers provided such instructions are given in accordance with the terms of the relevant Third Party Disposal Agreement in respect of the relevant Third Party Disposal Asset and that the Transferee would be required to comply with such instructions under the terms of the relevant Third Party Disposal Agreement were such instructions given to, and were such Third Party Disposal Assets held by, the Transferee.
- On the Registration Date for any Third Party Disposal Assets, the Transferee shall hold title to such Third Party Disposal Assets (to the extent not transferred on the Effective Date) together with any other interests in any Third Party Disposal Assets transferred and vested in the Transferee on that Registration Date on trust for the Third Party Purchasers (if such interests were held on trust for the Third Party Purchasers by the Transferor immediately prior to the Effective Date under the terms of the Third Party Disposal Agreements) or for the Third Party Purchasers as participant (if such interests were held on for the Third Party Purchasers as participant by the Transferor immediately

prior to the Effective Date under the terms of the Third Party Disposal Agreements) in each case on the terms of the Third Party Disposal Agreements.

- On and from the Effective Date to the relevant Registration Date in respect of a Third Party Disposal Asset held by the Transferor, the Transferor acknowledges that the Transferee is, pursuant to the Third Party Disposal Agreements, obliged to pay or cause to be or allow to be paid certain amounts to the Third Party Purchasers in relation to the Third Party Disposal Assets held by the Transferor, and shall not unless otherwise instructed by the Transferee acting on the instructions of the relevant Third Party Purchaser or as required by law or regulation, deal with a relevant Third Party Disposal Asset held by the Transferor in such a way as to prejudice the performance of this obligation by the Transferee.
- In the event of any payment being made to, asset being received by, right being conferred upon, or benefit accruing to, the Transferor on or after the Effective Date in respect of any Third Party Disposal Assets held by the Transferor, the Transferor shall, as soon as is reasonably practicable after its receipt, pay over the full amount of such payment or (to the extent to which it is able to do so) transfer (by means of a transfer at the relevant Land Registryland registry, Register register or otherwise) such asset, right or benefit to, or in accordance with the directions of, the Transferee acting on the instructions of the relevant Third Party Purchaser, and in each case without set-off or counterclaim.

16. CONSEQUENCES OF THE SCHEME

- 16.1 Save to the extent stated otherwise in the Order, none of the transfers or the amendments effected by this Scheme, or any other thing done or omitted to be done in connection with or under this Scheme shall:
 - 16.1.1 invalidate or discharge any agreement, security, guarantee or other thing; or
 - 16.1.2 <u>other than as may be required pursuant to paragraph 15.1,</u> require further registration or amendment of existing registration in respect of any security or other instrument; or
 - 16.1.3 constitute a breach of, or default under, or require compliance with any contractual provision, or other requirement which has the effect of prohibiting a transfer of any Transferred Asset, any Transferred Liability or (to the extent applicable) any Residual Item to the Transferee, or which requires:
 - (a) notice or consent for or an acknowledgement of any action or other matter to be obtained from or provided to any person;
 - (b) any obligation to be performed sooner or later than would have otherwise been the case;
 - any person to deliver any information to any other person for the purposes of satisfying KYC Requirements;
 - (d) the Transferor and/or the Transferee and/or any counterparty to execute any new or additional documents, record details in any register, accede to any existing documents, provide any confirmations or undertakings to any person and/or meet any other pre-conditions in respect of a transfer of any Transferred Asset, any Transferred Liability or (to the extent transferred at a Subsequent Transfer Date) any Residual Item other than, in each case, as may be required pursuant to paragraph 15.1;
 - (e) the satisfaction of eligibility criteria or any other condition which would restrict the ability of the Transferee to acquire a Transferred Asset, a Transferred Liability or (to the extent applicable) a Residual Item;
 - (f) compliance with any restriction on the transfer of confidential information between the Transferor and the Transferee.

- in each case under any agreement or instrument or any other document to which the Transferor or the Transferee is a party or is bound; or
- 16.1.4 allow any party to terminate any agreement, warranty, undertaking or other arrangement (including any insurance policies), save to the extent expressly permitted pursuant to this Scheme, whether in an agreement to which the Transferor is a party or not, when that party would not otherwise have been able to terminate, or to treat any interest or right under that agreement as terminated; or
- 16.1.5 enable any party to vary the terms of any agreement, warranty, undertaking or other arrangement (including any insurance policies), save to the extent expressly permitted pursuant to this Scheme, when such person would not otherwise have been able to vary those terms or confer a right or benefit on which they would not otherwise have had; or
- 16.1.6 save as required by the terms of this Scheme, cause the imposition of any greater or lesser obligation on any party to any agreement to which the Transferor or the Transferee are parties when that greater or lesser obligation would not otherwise have been imposed; or
- 16.1.7 affect the enforceability, priority or ranking of any security; or
- 16.1.8 constitute a breach of any representation, obligation or duty, or enable any person to bring a claim against any person, in each case whether in contract, tort, equity or otherwise; or
- 16.1.9 constitute a waiver of any existing rights of the Transferor in relation to a Transferred Asset, a Transferred Liability, a Transferred Contract (subject to the provisions of paragraph 12) or (to the extent transferred at a Subsequent Transfer Date) a Residual Item; or
- 16.1.10 require the payment to any person by the Transferor or the Transferee of any fees, costs or expenses of any person; or
- 16.1.11 require the delivery by the Transferor or the Transferee of any legal opinion, tax opinion, report, certificate, evidence, corporate authorisation document or other document; or
- 16.1.12 to the extent possible under any Applicable Laws, enable an insolvency practitioner (including any liquidator, provisional liquidator, administrator, administrative receiver or supervisor of a company voluntary arrangement) (the "Insolvency Practitioner") to treat the transfer effected by this Scheme (or the decision to enter into the transfer effected by this Scheme) as: (i) an entry into a transaction for the purposes of Articles 202 (2), 204 and 205 of the Insolvency (Northern Ireland) Order 1989; (ii) a giving of a preference for the purposes of Articles 203, 204 and 205 of the Insolvency (Northern Ireland) Order 19896; (iii) an entry into a transaction for the purposes of Article 206 (2) of the Insolvency (Northern Ireland) Order 1989; (iv) the creation of a floating charge for the purposes of Article 207 of the Insolvency (Northern Ireland) Order 1989; or (v) a similar triggering event for the purposes of any other period during which an Insolvency Practitioner can challenge the transaction under any administration, insolvency, company voluntary arrangement or similar process (including under the Banking Act 2009).
- 16.2 Without prejudice to paragraph 16.1, to the extent that any consent or affirmation or acknowledgement is required from any Customer or other person in order to enable the operator of an electronic platform to reflect fully and action on its electronic platform the transfer of a Transferred Contracts or Residual Item pursuant to this Scheme, such consent or affirmation or acknowledgement shall be deemed to have been given at the Relevant Date by each such Customer or other person.

PART C - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

17. **EFFECTIVE DATE**

- 17.1 This Scheme shall become operative at 00:01am (GMT) on 3 May 2021 or on such other time and date as the Transferor and the Transferee may agree (being a date and time falling after the making of the Order) and in any case no later than the date referred to in paragraph 17.2.
- 17.2 Unless this Scheme shall become operative in its entirety on or before 11:59pm (GMT) on 3 August 2021 or such later date and/or time, if any, as the Court may allow upon the application of the Transferor and the Transferee, it shall lapse.

18. MODIFICATIONS, AMENDMENTS OR ADDITIONS

- 18.1 The Transferor and the Transferee may consent jointly for and on behalf of the parties hereto and all other persons concerned (other than the PRA and the FCA) to any modification of, or addition to, this Scheme or to any further condition or provision affecting the same which, prior to its sanction of this Scheme, the Court may approve or impose.
- 18.2 Subject to paragraph 18.3, the Transferee shall at any time after the sanction of this Scheme by the Court be at liberty to apply to the Court for consent to amend its terms, provided that, in any such case, each of the PRA and the FCA shall be provided at least 30 days notice of, and have the right to be heard at, any hearing of the Court at which such application is considered. If such consent is granted, the Transferee may amend the terms of this Scheme in accordance with such consent.
- 18.3 The consent of the Court shall not be required in relation to either minor or technical amendments (or both) to the terms of this Scheme (including amendments to correct manifest errors) provided that each of the PRA and the FCA has been given notice of the same by the Transferee and has not objected thereto within 30-21 days of such notification.

19. EVIDENCE OF TRANSFER

- 19.1 The production of a copy of the Order with any modifications and/or additions made under paragraph 18, shall for all purposes be evidence of the transfer to, and vesting in, the Transferee:
 - 19.1.1 on and from the Effective Date, of the Business, Transferred Assets, the Transferred Liabilities and the Transferred Contracts; and
 - 19.1.2 on and from such Subsequent Transfer Date, of the Residual Assets and the Residual Liabilities.
- 19.2 In order to enable the Transferee to complete any title to any property or interest in land transferred to, and vested in, it by virtue of this Scheme and, without prejudice to paragraphs 3 to 10 inclusive, by notice of title or otherwise, or to deduce title, this Scheme or the Order (or both), with any modifications made under paragraph 18, shall be deemed to be, and may be used as, a general disposition, conveyance or as the case may be, assignation, of such property or interest in favour of the Transferee.

20. **OFFICE HOLDERS**

No directors, secretary or auditor of the Transferor shall, by virtue only of this Scheme, become a director, secretary or auditor of the Transferee.

21. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS

- 21.1 Subject to paragraph 21.2, a person who is not a party to the Scheme may not enforce any term of the Scheme pursuant to the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 or otherwise.
- 21.2 Customers may enforce the provisions of paragraph 12 against the Transferee.

22. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS

This Scheme will bind and enure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Transferor and the Transferee.

23. COSTS AND EXPENSES

Except as otherwise agreed by the Transferor and the Transferee, each of the Transferor and Transferee shall bear its own costs and expenses relating to the preparation of the Scheme and the application for the sanction of the Scheme, whether such costs and expenses arise before or after the Effective Date.

24. FURTHER ASSURANCE

The Transferor and the Transferee shall each take all reasonable steps and do all reasonable things (including by executing and delivering documents) as may be desirable or necessary in order to give effect to this Scheme.

25. GOVERNING LAW

This Scheme is governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, Northern Irish law and the parties submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Courts of Northern Ireland.

Dated [●] 2021

SCHEDULE 1

GENERAL AMENDMENTS

- 1. As for any reference (however worded and whether expressed or implied) to:
- 1.1 the Transferor (however so defined), the Transferor's company registration details, its legal entity identifier (or "**LEI**"), its Financial Services Register Number and VAT number shall be substituted for a reference to the "*National Westminster Bank Plc trading as Ulster Bank*" or "*Ulster Bank, a brand-business name* of *National Westminster Bank Plc* and the Transferee's company registration details, LEI, Financial Services Register Number and VAT number;
- 1.2 account details of the Transferor in respect of a Transferred Asset shall be construed as a reference to the same account details in the name of the Transferee;
- 1.3 account details of a company, a Customer or any other person to be maintained with the Transferor shall be construed as a reference to the same account details, as maintained by the Transferee;
- the requirement for a Customer to maintain an Account with the Transferor in a Transferred Contract shall be construed as a requirement for a Customer to maintain a deposit account with the Transferee:
- 1.5 the Ulster Bank Limited Invoice Finance Team in a Transferred Contract shall be treated as a reference to the equivalent team of the Transferee;
- the Transferor or "Bank" or "Lender" or other role held by the Transferor shall be construed as, and take effect as, a reference to the Transferee;
- 1.7 any one or more of the directors, employees, partners, agents, suppliers, affiliates, officers, contractors, servants, representatives, parent and subsidiary companies, and licensees and licensors of the Transferor shall be construed as a reference to such directors, employees, partners, agents, suppliers, affiliates, officers, contractors, servants, representatives, parent and subsidiary companies, and licensees and licensors of the Transferee as the Transferee may nominate for that purpose or in a default of nomination, to the director, employee, partner, agent, supplier, affiliate, officer, contractor, servant, representative, parent and subsidiary companies, and licensee and licensor of the Transferee who corresponds as nearly as may be to the first mentioned director, officer, representative or employee;
- any rate, charge, tariff or scale of fees or terms or conditions published by the Transferor from time to time, shall be construed as and take effect as a reference to the corresponding rate, charge, tariff or scale of fees or to terms or conditions published by the Transferee from time to time;
- 1.9 the Transferor being "incorporated under the laws of Northern Ireland" (howsoever expressed) shall be construed as, and take effect as, a reference to the Transferee being "incorporated under the laws of England and Wales";
- 1.10 the Transferor's address and contact details for notices to be given to the Transferor or to notices being given to the Transferor at the Transferor's main establishment, registered office, main office, registered place of business or similar shall be construed as, and take effect as, a reference also to the Transferee's registered office and that notices may be served on the Transferee using the address or contact details specified for the Transferor or at the Transferee's registered office;
- 1.11 the Transferor's office or location out of which the Transferor may act as being in Belfast, Northern Ireland shall be construed as, and take effect as, a reference to the Transferee's office or location in Belfast, Northern Ireland;
- 1.12 the Transferor acting as agent for another member or other members of the NatWest Group or any other person shall be construed as, and take effect as, a reference to the Transferee acting as

agent for such member or members of the NatWest Group or such other person (as the case may be); and

1.13 the Transferor's standard settlement instructions shall be construed as, and take effect as, a reference to the Transferee's standard settlement instructions.

SCHEDULE 2 - PROPERTIES

PART 1 - FREEHOLD / LONG TERM LEASEHOLD PROPERTIES

A – FREEHOLD PROPERTIES

No.	Town/City	Address
1.	Armagh	7 Upper English Street, Armagh
2.	Ballycastle	20 Ann Street, Ballycastle
3.	Ballymena	45 Wellington Street, Ballymena
4.	Ballymoney	11 Church Street, Ballymoney
5.	Ballynahinch	1a Main Street, Ballynahinch
6.	Banbridge	22 Bridge Street, Banbridge
7.	Clogher	55 Main Street, Clogher
8.	Coleraine	30 The Diamond, Coleraine
9.	Cookstown	20/24 William Street, Cookstown
10.	Crumlin	27 Main Street, Crumlin
11.	Dungannon	39 Market Street, Dungannon
12.	Dunmurry	183 Kingsway, Dunmurry
13.	Larne	9 Upper Cross Street, Larne
14.	Enniskillen	16 Darling Street, Enniskillen
15.	Limavady	30/32 Catherine Street, Limavady
16.	Londonderry	28 Clooney Terrace, Londonderry
17.	Lurgan	14-16 Market Square, Lurgan
18.	Magherafelt	20 Broad Street, Magherafelt
19.	Maghera	13 Main Street, Maghera
20.	Omagh	14 High Street, Omagh
21.	Newtownards	22 Frances Street, Newtownards
22.	Belfast	185-189 Shankill Road, Belfast
23.	Strabane	29 Abercorn Square, Strabane
24.	Warrenpoint	2 Charlotte Street, TandrageeWarrenpoint

48

<u>25.</u>	<u>Portrush</u>	33 Eglinton Street, Portrush
<u>26.</u>	Castlewellan	29 Upper Square, Castlewellan

B – LONG TERM LEASEHOLD PROPERTIES

No.		Town/City	Address
1.		Downpatrick	2/8 Market Street, Downpatrick
2.		Holywood	9/11 Church Road, Holywood
3.		Belfast	1/2 King's Square, King's Road
4.		Lisnaskea	186 Main Street, Lisnaskea
5.	_	Newry	86 Hill Street, Newry
<u>5.</u>	6.	Glengormley	2 Farmley Road, Glengormley, Newtownabbey
<u>6.</u>	7.	Comber	6/8 The Square, Comber
<u>7.</u>	8.	Belfast	365-367 Ormeau Road, Belfast
<u>8.</u>	9.	Portadown	20 High Street, Portadown
9.	10.	Belfast	91/93 University Road, Belfast

B - MIXED TENURE FREEHOLD/LEASEHOLD PROPERTIES

No.	Town/City	Address
1.	Antrim	8 Market Square, Antrim
2.	Belfast	11/16 Donegall Square East, Belfast
3.	Belfast	Stranmillis Road, Danesfort, Belfast
4.	Belfast	202-206 York Street, Belfast
5.	<u>Castlewellan</u> Newry	29 Upper Square, Castlewellan86 Hill Street, Newry

PART 2-- SHORT LEASEHOLD PROPERTIES

No	Town/City	Address
1.	Bangor	Springhill Shopping Centre, Bangor
2.	Mallusk	Blackwater Business Park, Mallusk, Newtownabbey
3.	Carrickfergus	33/37 High Street, Carrickfergus
4.	Connswater	Unit 8b, Connswater Link, Belfast
5.	Cookstown	Molesworth Plaza, Cookstown
6.	Lisburn	18 Bow Street, Lisburn
7.	Londonderry	Da Vinci Complex, 2 Bay Road, Londonderry
8.	Belfast	Shaftesbury Square, Belfast
9.	Belfast	Unit G, Westwood Retail Park, Belfast

PART 3 – THIRD PARTY OCCUPIER PROPERTIES

No	Town/City	Address
1.	Lisburn	18 Bow Street, Lisburn
2.	Belfast	Shaftesbury Square, Belfast
3.	Belfast	91-93 University Road
4.	Downpatrick	9 Irish Street, Downpatrick
5.	Belfast	Danesfort, Stranmillis Road

PART 4 – LICENCE AGREEMENTS

No	Town/City	Address
1.	Donaghadee	Site Adjacent to Shorefront Playground
2.	Rathfriland	Castle Street, Public Car Park
3.	Irvinestown	Rear Car Park at Mahons Hotel
4.	Dungiven	Public Car park 104-106 Main Street
5.	Killyleagh	Car Park to the rear of St Marys Star of Sea Church
6.	Kircubbin	The Green Public Car Park
7.	Portaferry	Main Square
8.	Saintfield	Car Park at Town Hall, Main Street
9.	Newtownhamilton	Yard of 12-14 The Square
10.	Gortin	2-4 Main Street
11.	Newcastle	Castle Park Car Park
12.	Randalstown	Car Park at Rear of 33 Main Street
13.	Hillsborough	Hillsborough Village Centre, 7 Ballynahinch Road
14.	Tandragee	Space Adjacent to 64 Market Street
15.	Mallusk	Car parking space at Blackwater Business Park, Mallusk Road, Newtownabbey
<u>16</u>	Magherafelt	Licence to Install an Art Sculpture at 20 Broad Street, Magherafelt

No	Town/City	Address
<u>17</u>	Mallusk	Licence to Park Private Motor Vehicles

2020 No. 071145

IN THE HIGH COURT OF JUSTICE IN NORTHERN IRELAND QUEEN'S BENCH DIVISION (COMMERCIAL LIST)

IN THE MATTER OF ULSTER BANK LIMITED

-and-

IN THE MATTER OF NATIONAL WESTMINSTER BANK PLC

-and-

IN THE MATTER OF PART VII

OF THE FINANCIAL SERVICES AND MARKETS ACT 2000

SCHEME

for the transfer to National Westminster Bank Plc of the retail banking, commercial banking and related business of Ulster Bank Limited

Pinsent Masons LLP 30 Crown Place Earl Street London EC2A 4ES

Tel: +44 (0)20 7418 7000 Ref: HA06/MB60